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CAPTIONED FILMS FOR THE DEAF

TUESDAY, AUGUST 7, 1962

: U.S. SENATE,
: SeECIAL SUBCOMMITTEE OF THE
COMMITTEE ON LABOR AND PuBric WELFARE,
i Washmgton, D.C.

The special subcommittee met ursuant to notice; at 10 a.m., in
room 4232, New Senate Office Bull ng,: bena.tor Pell chalrma.n of the
subcomm1ttee, presidin

Present: Senators P%l (pre31dmg) ; Yarborou h, a.nd Tower :

Also present: Hon. Edmund S. Muskle, S. Senator from the
State of Maine.

Staff committee members present: Stewart E. McClure, chief
clerk; John S. Forsythe, general counsel; Robert W. Barclay, profes-
sional staff member of the subeomlmtt,ee, and Ra.ymond D. Hurley,
minority associate counsel.

Senator Pern, I would like to call to order this hearing of the
special subcommittee of the Committee on Labor.and Public Welfare
to hold hearings on S. 2511; to provide for the production and dis-
tribution of educational and training films for use by deaf persons
and for other purposes.

There are today in the United States 250 000 fellow citizens who
are totally deaf, and many more who are pa.rtl uﬂrdeaf All too
little has been done to he p these people—particularly the totally
deaf—to play the useful and self—suﬁiclent role in our socmty of
Whmh they are capable.

" Accordingly, I am honored and pleased to be prefﬂdmg over this
speclal subcommittee hearing today on S. 2511, which authorizes
an expanded program of captioned films for the deaf, authorizes
research for the most effective use of these films, and- authorizes the
training of professional persons in the most effective use of captioned

As all of you know, the distinguished Senator from Maine, Mr.
Muskie, who will be one of our first witnesses, introduced S. 2511.
I rmght add that I am proud to be a cosponsor of this measure.

I also want to mention that my distinguished  colleague in the
House of Representatives, Oongressm&n John Fogarty, has introduced
a companion bill, H.R. 9456.

The program - of captioned films, which S. 2511 seeks to expand,
was made possible by the diligent: -work of former Senator Purtell, of
Connecticut, who in April 1957 introduced S. 1839 in the 85th Con—
gress. S. 1889 resulted in Public Law 85-905.

I very: much regret that Senator Purtell cannot be with us per-
sonally today, but I understand that he will be submitting a state-
ment 1n support of the bill, One of the things which pleases me most

1




2 CAPTIONED FILMS FOR THE DEAF

about this program is that it i1s senuinel_v bipartisan and this
certainly the spirit in which I intend to conduct these hearings.

We are dealing here today with a proven program which has been
in operation since 1959. The value of captioned films has been
thoroughly tested and evaluated.

The principal problem is that the present program daes not begin
to meet the demand.” All prints presently available are booked
ﬁt least & year or two in advance.. Surely, we must do better than we

ave,

It is not commonly-understood ‘that the deaf child, in comparison
for instance to the blind child, has a much more difficult learning

rocess. Being able 'to hear is vital to the whole learning process.
?t is a regrettable fact that many deaf children do not even know
their own pame by the time théy'are 6 years old¥* Surely we, in turn,
cannot turn:& deaf ear to those who desperately want to learn, be
they children or adults. In this connection, I want to emphagize
that this pregram ¢an also be wery helpful in enabling deaf adults to
make their full contribution to society. -

I mentioned earlier that this bill would also help to stimulate much
needed research in the use of captioned films and provide for training
of professional people in their use. Thus, this bill represents a well-
rounded, thoroughly proven program which is vitally needed, and I
am hopeful.that prompt action will be taken on 1t. :

I would like to call as the first witness my colleague and friend,
Senator Muskie.

STATEMENT OF HON. EDMUND S. MUSKIE, U.S. SENATOR FROM
THE STATE OF MAINE

Senator Muskie. Thank you very much; Mr. Chairman. I
appreciate the opportunity to appear before this special subcommittee
and testify this morning on S. 2511 ~ .

I also would like to express my gratitude to the chairman of the
special snbcommittee for his willingness ‘to cosponsor this bill which
is not, perhaps, one of the key pieces of legislation at this session,
but I think it is & very important piece of legislation for the people
who.are affected. ' . . :

Mr. Chairman, [ have had along and continuing interest in the new
and revolutionary techniques whlilgn are being introduced into educa-
tion al programs. The more I have studﬁ' the potential of new
met hods, particularly audiovisual aids, the more I have become con-
vinced of the tremendous possibilities of this method in teaching the
deaf. _

Liast year in:testimony before the Senate Appropriations Cominittee
I indicated my belief in the favorable impact an improved captioned
films program would have on the welfare of this group of handicapped

ersons. .
1 I would like to stdte that, with an additional year of experience in
the present program; [-am even more convinced of the necessity for this
amendment, :
The need for expandad educational opportunities for the deaf in-
creases and the time has arrived to take some positive action to assist
these handicapped persons.
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In considering this legial‘a;t.ion, we should look at the Federal pro-
gram for the blind. The existing inequality between that program
and the captioned films for the deaf program is clearly evident.

At the present time, the captioned films for the deaf program has
a limited annual budget of $250,000. This represents $1 g)r each deaf
person in the United States. =~ = =~ = g '

Compared with this sum, the talking books for the blind program in
1962 served 350,000 individusals at a cost' of approximately $1.8
million, or a little over $5 for each blind person. The talking books
program has an unlimited budget. In addition to Federal assistance,
there are many charitable organizations, such as Columbia Lighthouse
1i;riu_r éhe Blind, which are concerned with the special problems of the

sl YRy : _

I in'no'way want to imply that assistance to the blind should be
curtailed. T merely wish to indicate the wide gap between the two
programs. i | '

‘Enactment of S. 2511 would ‘help to narrow the present inequity
in a sistance given to these two groups of handicapped individuals.

Under the present captioned films program, some 650 groups of
deaf persons utilize the film distribution services! This figt re i3 less
than 10 percent of the total deaf population of approximately 250,000.

Currently the program has a mere 14 educational subjee s, and some
of thiese are actually more documéntary thdn educational. The
remaining subjects are solely entertainment by nature.

Commercial firms are not interested in producing caption d films
becausSe of the limited market. Theyv are also not interested in: ex-
ploring new techniques in the use of films for this special group. The
film industry is not in a position to promote teacher training in more
effective use of the films. = :

The p resent act contains ne provision for research or.for trainin
personnel in the use of films for :the deaf.' These are -eritical an
in portant aress which are forced to go neglected because of narrow
budget limitations. 3 A oA i

~Unique educational problems are involved in jteaching a person
handicapped by deafness. This student requires better visual mate-
rials and more adequately trained teachers,

Teachers of the deaf are faced with unusual problems not, always
fully 1ealized or understood by the lay public. A child who is either
born deaf or rendered deaf at a very early age is inflicted with a double
burden to bear throughout life. There is no normal way for such a
?hﬂg to learn how to commmupicate becaise soinds have no meaning

or him.

By expanding the present captioned films program, it will be possible
to earich the lives of many more thousands of deaf children and adults.
In considering this amendment, we must remember that the Nation
benefits as well as the handicapped individual. -

In+fiscal year 1961, the appropriation for this program was only
$185,000. fiscal year 1962, the Senate saw fit to increase that
amount t0 $250,000. This is the ceiling which has been placed on
Public Law 85-905. :

S. 2511 would amend Public Law 85-905 and would remove the
$250,000 annual appropriation limitation.

The bill would permit the Federal Government (0 assume responsi-
bility for the production of captioned films for the deaf. And I
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repeat that this problem is a problem unigue to this particular group
of some 250,000 in the country. - ;

It would authorize research in the use of education and training
films for the deaf and would provide for training of personsin the use
of those films. B b ok

Mr. Chairman, I sincerely believe that the proposed expansion of
the existing program is important to the welfare and intellectual
development of this group of American citizens. And as we all know,
when better opportunities are afforded for educational advancement,
better, citizenship results. . "

I strongly urge the committee to take immediate and favorable
action in regard to S. 2511.

Mr. Chairman, a few weeks ago John Gough, Chief of the captioned
films for the deaf program, U.S. Office of Education, prepared an
excellent brief, as I will call it, for my benefit and for the benefit of
those of us who have been interested in this bill and this program.

I ask, Mr, Chairman, that this be made a part:of the record at. this
point, . i S g »

Senator Pern. That will be done.

(The-brief referred to follows:).

CAprioNED FiiMs FOoR "HE DEAF

- With 2 years of actual film distribution now completed, the captioned films
for the deaf program. presently serves 680 groups of deaf persons with subtitled
motion pictures. The films are viewed by an audience averaging some 18,500
persong monthly, This represents less than 10 percent of a total deaf population
estimated at 260,000. _ == ,

To serve these people the Office of Education has acquired more than 100
captioned films with f?om 1 to 15 prints each. A total of 344 prints are in cir-
culation. This growth from an initial gift of 29 prints from the American School
for the Deaf has been accomplished on a budget which started at $15,000 in 1860
and reached the authorized maximum of $250,000 for the first time in 1962.

Demand for captioned films far outruns the present supply. Evidence in
support, of this statement is seen in the.fact that practically all available prints
are booked from 1 to 2 years in advance. The booking and shipping office at
the Indiana School for the Deaf, Indianapolis, is forced to postpone or turn down
many réquests for film simply because of the limited size of the library. '

Even more significantly, schools forithe deaf, unable to make effective use of
audiovisual materials provided for normally hearing children, stand in dire need
of captioned teaching films, The sériousness of this situation is highlighted in
preliminary conclusions from a _natiOnﬂ.l"survgy of visnal edueation in American
schools for the deaf conducted by Gallaudet College under the National’ Defense
Education Act. Theinvestigator saysin part: : | . i g

‘*About half of the schoolg for the deaf and.more than half of the day classes
for the deaf have no facilities for producing their own visual aids, Hven where
such facilities exist, they tend to be rudimentary. At the same timo; the most
frequent comment E)y the administrator who feel that their schools do not make
sufficient use of visual aids isthat their teacherslack the necessary training.”

Yet ‘42 percent of the schools and 36 percent of the day classes make no pro-
vision for inservice training.”’ =i s

The report contfinues, showing, with reference to equipment, that most schools
and classes are equipped to some degree and that the captioned films service of
the Federal Govern nent.is the most frequent source of visual aid materials. ~ It
is point d out, however, that the 200 oz more day classes make little u e of these
films. On this point the report concludes: “The need for more publicity about
this servicé among the classes is evident.”” ' : g

Actually, the real need is probably not for more publicity, but for more materials
of an educational nature that will be of greater use in both-schoolsand day classes,
This need is further emphasized by the fact that 40 ;i)ercent of the schools for the
deaf use captioned films, only at infrequent intervals, As for uncaptioned film
courses Euch 48 are used with Hearing children, ‘80 percent ‘of the schools and
classes indicate no plan at all tertry this medium.” ' 2
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To comprehend the importance of visual aids in the education of the deaf one
must understand the double handicap inflicted by deafness oceuring at birth or in
infancy.  Not only is the deaf child deprived of hearing ordinary sounds, he is
deprived of all knowledge of language. Words and gentences; the basic coinage of
communication, do not exist for him.

When the normal child or even the blind or ofherwise physically handicapped
child reaches school age he has a vocabulary of several thousand words. He can
organize these words as sentences to express his thoughts and desires. For him
to relate these meaningful sounds to the patterns of print; be it clear type or
braille, is an experience that rapidlyflourishes into skills which bring hm into
contaet with the full range of his cult re.

Contrast with this the plight of the deaf child. ‘At 5 or 6 he does not know the
neme of any single thing—not one—noteven his own name. He cannot form
the simplest sentence. After a year in school he may know 50 to 100 words.
Abftler..lﬂ to 12 years in scheol he will typically have a third or fourth grade reading
ability, U

Bu{ the severily of this educational retardation can belegseled.: By expanding
the deaf child’s experiences through the use of films and by helping him to verbalize
these experiences through printed captions, modern technology. can:bridge: part
of the communication gulf which separates the deaf from an strequate education.
The introduction-of these techniqites is long overdue. -

Deafness being a more serious educational handicap than blindness, one might
suppose that the: Fedéral Government would do more to support special means
for educating the deaf than it does for educating the blind. ereverse; however,
is true. The Federal program of talking books for the blind o tes under an
act which places no limit on the budget. In fiscal year 1962 the books for the
blind program expended approximately $1,800,000 in serving an estimated total
blind pofpulation of 350,000, - Thedisparity between this and the current $250,000
budget for captioned films becomes even more af)parent when considered in light
of the-fact that book publishers waive:all royalty rights on books used for the
talking books program wheresas full length filins normally carry a royalty of $600

t print for a 5-year lease.. Similarily, educational films costing geo per print
inelude a royalty-item which mayrun 75 percent of the purchase price. 3

In view of the severe educational problems of the deaf, and:the acute need te
provide:better educational materials with strong visual iinpact; the importance
ofienlarging the captioned films program is amply clear. Not only is there a need
to provide more films but to-explore new technigues for more effective use. In
some areas there is need to produce films that will meet special. groblems peculiar
to those, whe do not hear. - Training of people who are engaged in-teaching and
training the deaf .in order that they will make better use of filmed materials:is
also needed. Thére is need, also, to study uses of television; teaching machines,

and programed learning with the deaf. -

Senator Muskie. I have expressed my interest in my remarks up
to this point, and my remarks will not be much longer, Mr. Chairman,
on the particular needs of the deaf. “However, for a long time, in
addition’ to their needs, T have been intérested in ‘the possib lities of
audiov susl aids in the field of education. It seems to me their nse
has only scratched the surface of thair potential  And in order to get
this broader scope into the record; I would like to'introduce-the testi-
mony given by Mr. Maurice B. Mitchell, president of Encyclopaedia
Britannica, before the Senate Committee on Education, Common-
wealth of Pennsylvania, on June 30, 1959.

Mr. Mitchell at the time of this hearing was president of Encyeclo-
paedia Britannica Films, Inc., and is considered an expert in the field
of audiovisual training, Although his staftement is not concerned
s;f)eciﬁca}ly with captioned films for the deaf, his comments on the uSe
of films in the field of learning are pa.rt.iculaﬁﬁ ermane to S, 2511,
: 'Spr&a;tor Prrn. Without objection, that will be made a part of the
record. iy . el p i ”

(The statement of Mr. Mitchell follows:) '

877690822
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PrREPARED STATEMENT BY Mavrice B. Mrreupry, PrESIDENT, EncYCLOPAEDIA
; "BRITANNICA Fiims, Ine.,, WinMerTE, TiL SR

Mr..Chairman and members of -the committee, your committee; by its very
existence, takes note of thefact that the problem of finding ways and means to
meet the community’s obligation to successfully edueate its young people fot life
in & modern world is one of the gravest and most vexing we have faced in modern
times. ] . .

1 will notlabor the obvious facts—that & rapidly rising birth rate and standard
of living, an aceelerated accumulation of knowledge; and the inability of existing
institutions to adjust to these rapid changes have brought us to the {r'mk of this
greatest of social erises. You already know that our school facilities are crowded
beyond present and future capacity, that the curriculum is reeling under the im-
pact of our new knowledge of the.phenomena:of our world and our civilization,
that there simply are not enough teachers and specialists in. education to meet our
neéds, and finally; that. we are all having trouble finding the money to apply. fo
the solution of these problems. -

I will, however, point to some special problems in education that are a prodi ct
of the kind of world in which we live.. Pty ) i .
1) We are accumulating new and vital'knowledge at/ such a rapid rate and in
so many different fields that thé whole system of clisriculium change and the in-
structional malérials that suppert:it: are in-dénger of orashing down about -us.
They were ot designed to rapidly accommodate the major revolution in®the
sciences we hatve had in the past two decades; to deal with the substantial and
speedy ehanges now long Overdue in mathematics, foreign languages, and the
whole area of the gsocial studies—with new concepts in geography, in history, in
the whole area of humanities.

Curriculum change is largelr -dependent upon instructional materials, The
pew content and concepts must bereflected inimaterials used to teach teachers as
well as students, and if the eurriculum changes-are to reflect contemporary knowl-
edge, these new teaching tools must be flexible; easily:and guickly produced; and
subject to the widest possible use at all levels:  There is good reason now to be-
lieve that the traditional instructional device, the textbook, cannot alone meet
this challenge; and that we must incorporate in our list of basic teaching teols
some of our modérn communications devices. _

(2) Our business and industrial communit¥is reminding us; with intreasing in-
tensity, that we are néw commitfed te a new kind of industriak revolution; char-
acterized by a technology of & most complexsott, and that these devices must be
manned and improved by a new kind of:product of our educational process —
technicians; engineers, scientists-in quantities far beoynd anything we have:con-
templated in past generations. oL . ]

. {8) We face the problem of preserving the humanitiesin a technologicel society;
of finding a way to pass along our precious heritage of freedomj of fostering ithe
g owth of our developing culture, of producing a balanced and humane society of
men and women equipped not only to survive in this complex world but also to
bring it leadership and to find contentment and fulfillment in their lives. We
naow kiuow we must do this with inadequate resouirces in teachers for vears to come.

(4) We face the very special challenge of these times—to adopt and use the
20th-century tools that lie all around us and have found their way into every
major field of endeavor to solve the serious problems of modernizing our edu-
cational process at a-cost that is within our means: - '

It is these very problems that are being solved today in many areas of our
Nation—and, indeed, our globe—by the sound motion. picture in the classroem.
The tragedy is, perhaps, that the know-how has been at our fingertips for a quarter
century and more, and that we have only just begun to use it in all its full force
and effectiveness. :

e are not meW tec wniques-in the classroom; the sound motion pi¢ture and
filmstrip and other audiovisual zids have been with us for many years. They
are 50 well established as modern tools of the educator that almost every nation
of the Western World, with the exception of the United States, has established a
national agency to:insure their optimum development and utilization. England
has its Foundation for Visual Aidsi Education, Canada its National Film Board,
Russia, with its Ministry of Cinematography, has given it near-Cab net status.

The reports of reliable obServers in Russia, by the way, indicate that po small
part of their successes in their crash program of science education is du® to the
highly effective use they make of the sound film as an instructional tool.

§ is certainly not to suggest that the use of such maferials is unknown in
the United Sta es. On the contrary, we have in this country developed during
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the past quarter of a century an impressive array of skills in the produetion and:
introduction of new audiovisual materials. A_l_artfo number of organizations in
this field are producing several hundred new sound motion pictures for:the class-
room each year in almost every subject matter area of the curriculum. We have
developed skilled technicians in the interpretation of subject matter in motion
picture form, and a most impressive array of subject matter specialists—scholars
of eminence in their respective fields of learning, who have learned to assist in
the planning and execution of film assignments in the precise and demanding field
of producing motion pictures designed expressly for classroom use. - And in:the
Nation's schools there has been developed, at the elementary, secondary, and
higher education levels, &' nucleus of skilled specialists in audiovisual education.
These are the audiovisual directors of our schoels and universities, who overt he
vears have developed their own skills as teachers. using these tools, and learned .
the administrative skills necessary for the operation of sudiovisual programs,

The miracle is that this body of skills, talents; and experience is now ready at.
hand for our use, for it has developed in the face of almost every circumstance
calculated to discourage its growth. There has been no coherent industrywide
planping or research; no widesscale administrative machinery for fostering the
development and:use of these materisls, and:organized provision for the training”
of educational spectialists or the procurement of materials.

These are, as: I-have said; not new techniques in the classroom; this is one of
their greatest advantages. The proposal that we encourdge their widest possible
usé ‘makes no suggestion: that you give support to an experimental device which
has yet to be proved, or ons on ‘which a tremendous amount of ‘work 'must be
done before it can be put to maximum use in all of the Nation’s schools, 'The
sound motion picture, since its beginnings more than a quarter of a century ngo,
has been tried and tested in the one vlace where such aitest has the greatest
significancé—in the classroom, in a wide variety of teaching situations in literally
every subject area in the curriculum of the public schools of this country.

HOW MOTION PICTURES CONTRIBUTE TO LEARNING

The logic of the motion picture in the classroom is so apparent as to almost
make it unuecessary to labor the point. Few of us Iiving in an age in which
motion pictures and television have established the tremiendous impact of sirnul-
taneous sight and sound in communications will deny that this force on the face
of it must be a powerful oue in education. It seems reasonable to assume. that-
man’s primary interest in using communications is for the purpose of education.
In the days- before any of our modern communications devices existed, man
learned what he knew through the use of his eyes, his ears, and his voice. As the
world grew larger, these facilities became less effective, and he began to devise
substitutes. - Perhaps the greatest of these was the printing press which 500
Vears ago; 'enab'ledaﬁimrtu use his newly found alphabet and system of .numbers
for the recording of facts and the dissemination of information and ideas. : Over:
the years this substitute for direct communication %-'rew and expanded in use,
but it was always limited by the fact':that-ma_mngoeo e never did learn' to read—
many peo%la don’tilearn to read today, at least to the extent that their reading -
skills can be used for educational purposes bevond 'the pritnary areas—and few
men were able to translate the messags of the printed word into the meaningful
mental pictures and sounds on which many key concepts are based.

With the advent, of the motion picture, many of the most serious limitations to
learning were brushed aside. Here are some of the thingsthat the'motion pictures
in the classroom have done for teachers during the past 'quarter of a century:

1, Verbalism i

The transfer of words from the printed page through the eye aloune to the
brain;:their consequent memorization-by: students who frequently don't under-
stand what they, have memorized,-is known as verbalism. Thisisthe end result
in all too many cases of the proeess.of education in many subject areas. The
student memorizes the theorem in geometry, recites it, and in some cases actually
regurgitates it for examination purposes; but he has not had & meaningful experi-
ence; and in a very real sense, he has learned nothing at gll:  The sound moiion
picture, by giving meaning to abstract concepts, by giving reality to what would
otherwise be a meaningless jumble of words, overcomes verbalism and stinulates
real learfting. "



o G . CAPTIONED FILMS FOR THE DEAF

2. Common experienca: - : o Spper A TEL | Tt
Increasingly in today’s classrooms the teacher faces a group of children from
a wide variety of backgrounds. Some come from families with substantial
means, others come from homies where a high educational level prevails and there
are extensive resources to support the learning process. Some’ children have
traveled, and others have not. = Since teaching in classroom fashion is essentially
a group activity, educators long ago learned that the process can only be fully
effective when the children in the class have had some common experience—some
single background against which the teacher can work, confident in the knowledge
that each child has a-frame of reference not unlike that of his classmates. The
difficult, expensive, and cumbersome field trip has been, in the past, one technique
for overcoming this. Now the sound motion picture, by taking the whole class
at the same time through a'single experience, whether it be an airplane trip, a
visit 'to a farm or a particular industry, provides this background of common
experience and tremendously increases the effectiveness of the teacher.
3. Motion, . | : G s st s Py L :
»Many of the things we have to learn have motion.  Some motion is complex:
and difficult; to describe. | Some motion, unless it can be seen, simply cannot be:
usefully imagined. Some things appear so vast tha.t--sthezr-.’Ordinar{ human eye:
can’t see them, while others take so long to happen that there would be no time
to view them. Some of the things in motion are so small that only the most:
powerful microscope could make them visible, while other forms of motion take:
place within solid objects under eonditions which would make viewing dangerous
or impossible. Yet the motion picture draws upon:the magic of slow motion
photography, time-lapse photography, of photomicrography and ' X-ray photog-
raphy, as well as animation, to solve all of these problems and many more
besides. The child to whom “metamorphosis” would be a tremendously difficult-
word to learn, suddenly realizes that it’s a pretty easy word after all, after seeing
in just a few moments the miracle of the transformation of a caterpillar to a
butterfly through the magic of the time-lapse camera. ; 4
The ability to synthesize some events in time and space is literally exclusive
with the motion picture camera. ' There are some elements of instruction that
can only: be effectively presented in this manner. They not only include the
obvious items mentioned above, but encompass also such areas as' geography
history, and other social studies areas. A pupil who can view two widely sepa.rat_ed
geographical areas within a few moments, of watch the reenactment of a vital
period or episode in history, is being exposed to an educational - eommunication
of lasting 'etf_ectivelnoss. i FET . i R R
4. Reading limilations PEAT 2 memre s el i st il e Lilss
Not every student can read, and our educators are learning that there are
different; levels. of reading. ability. Some: children who can read comic books;,
for example, can’t read an arithmetic problem or a page in alhistory or science
textboolk, . Some who do. very well with: literature cannot/ deal with technical
materials, and vice versa. The great majority of these poor readers have sub-
stantial learning skills and they could be brought along in the process of education
to a higher level than many of them presently reach. The sound motion picture,
of course, communicates to all of them with: equal effectiveuness. It knows:.no
limitations in its. ability o communicate to people of all kinds of reading iskills,
and indeed; by giving the poor reader a sense of learning accomplishment, it
often contributes to an increased desire to learn to read better.! .7 v fazs
This ability of the motion: picture to  communicate with people who'cannot:
read, incidentally, is one of its major attractions in areas of the world outside of
the United States where there is a low level of literacy and a great job of public
education to be done. I would like to emphasize here that American educational
motion pictures are being used on a constantly increasing scalé around the world,
and that they are one of our most impressive ambassadors of good will in areas
where the-ordinary kinds of propaganda have made little or noimpression. We
are building on a sound basis when a child in India“or Thailand gains his first
understanding of magnetism,-electricity, or life in the United States by seeingan
American-made classroom film. TEOE 4 , ¥ S
&, Teacher training = .~

As we have changed the American curriculum in recent years, we have placed
tremendous burdens upon the existing force of teachers. When we decided to teach
science at lower levels in elementary schools, for example, we recognized the fact
that it was literally impossible to train the teachers at those gracfe levels in the
rudiments of science. Many of them learned their basic science by watching the
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very sound motion pictures they depended upon to teach: their clazses. More
itnportant than thet, teachers in most subject areas who were forfunate enough
to have acce s to films wers able to keep themselves current in develogements in
their subci'ect areas by using these films.  The textbook is too costly to be quickly
discarded, nor is it easily and frequently revised. The overburdened: teacher,
whose responsibilities not only include -work in the classroom but a tremendous
amount of housekeeping and other tasks, rarely has the titne 1o keep current on
new subject matter’ developments. Tf the film, which can be produced quickly
and which is frequently revised and exchanged at little or no -cost to the educator,
is slowly becoming the source of new information for the Nation's teachers, it is
entirely possible that major: changes in the curriculum of ‘the future may be
made largely through films, -

, The past and the dislant ; -

We know that if we are to educate our children to live in an age with global im-
plications and to contribute to the preservation of demnocracy, we must teach them
about the ways of life around the world and impress on them the great heritage
that hagcome to them through the ages't roughh story and:particularly through
the development of freedom that has been a characterigtic of our great Nation.
This is a task that poses tremendous problems for the older techniques of educa-
tion, which depend largely upon personal exposition and the use of reading ma-
terials. Yet the camera, with itsunique ability to visit the far corners of the
world and bringiback rich images, and:with its added ability to reenact the great
events of the bistoric past, makes a great coantribution in these tweo significant
areas. 'The child in an American classroom can visit the home of a youn ster in
Italy, see how he lives, what it is like in his classroom, how his father earns a living
and’ his mother keeps house, He can live a.%a.in the moment when Benjamin
Franklin addressed the delegation in Philadelphia that produced the Declaration
of Independence and ident fy himself and his atfitudes with the great men in
history as they faced the challenges that have produced our heritage, :
7; Cost !

Tt is difficult to deseribe the relative cost of sound motion pictures as compared
with other materials of instruction, but there is considerable evidence to indicate
that the cost of a film in terms of the number of students who use it and benefit
from it is no greater—and in most cases is actually smaller—than the cost of other
instructional materials, including books, This is not an argument in favor of
films as opposed to books, but it does indicate that there are no important ob-
stacles in terms of great expense to the u e of a sound motion picture as an every-
day tool in the classroom. i : . et il

ost important, however, is the growing realiza tion that proper use of films for
ﬁ‘mup instruction may oPen the door to major economies in the teaching process.
he use of complete science courses on film, for example, has already resulted
in better education for larger numbers of students at a cost level that’is precedent-
making. . PRy : 1 : -
8, Otker-advantagas;:- 53,3 i T

Time and space simply do not permit the further discussion of the adventages
of the motion picture in the classroom. -Some of these, indeed, are so' obvious'as
to hardly” fequire di cussion~ The communication takes place under conditions
which produce mazimum attention.  The motion picture reproduces life in spark-
li_r:&_ color, which not only contributes to greater attention'but dlso approaches
reality t0''a& degree simply not pessible under amny other eircum tances. The
teAcher retains at all times complete control of the pace and progress of the com-
munication. She can preview the 1m in advance of the class and decide how best
to u e it.. She can edit it so that only that particular portion that applies to her
problem is gshown to the class. She can turn off the sound track and let the class
share with her the experience of explaining what is happening on the screen. She
can run the film a second time at her convenience to underline the importance of
some aspects of the subject matter. Indeed, the limitations to the use of this
imgreasi_\ire instructional device are only those which would limit the imagination
and skills of the teacher herself. : $ , TR

THE SCIENCES

Because there is great currept interest in techniques that' would improve and
broaden teaching in the field of the sciences, perhaps somespecial merition'of this
area should be made at this time; T thinkit is evident from what I bave sdid
before that mation pictires ean be'used in'all areas of the currietlum; ard indesd
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-this is one of their advantages'because there would be many drawbacks to t.hé

development of any specialized teaching tool that was of value only in the science
field; but it is also true that classroom films have made one of their greatest con-
tributions since the very beginning in the area of science. The earliest films dealt

.with this complex and difficult subject; and they did some things that had never

‘before’ been possible in the classroom. In biology, for example, they showed
youngsters the human heart and circulatory system in a manner not possible in
the-cgmroom without an_actual living body. Through actual ﬁhot.ography they
explained the miracles of digestion and the operation of the human body. In
every field of science, using every technique of the filmic art, they explored difficult
subject matter, abstract concepts, and contributed riehly to the solution of teach-
ing problems, i i

In recent years, as physics bas become ove of our most significant science
aress, impressive work bas beén done in the film field. My own organization
in’ eadpération with-the Fund dor the Advarncement of Education of thé' For
Foundation, 2 vears ago released the first complete science course in the American
curriculum—indeed, in any cirrieulum—ever to he produced entirely on film,
This course has been taught in approximately 500 American schools in a wide

‘vatriety of c¢i cumstances: ~ It consists of 162 half-hour films in which a great
‘physics teacher, Dr. Harvey White of the University of ‘California at Berkeley,

conducts lectures, lecture dembnstrations and laboratory experiments 5 days a
week throughout the school year. In schiool systems Where only one or two
good physics teachers are fvailable, these films have been:used to relieve' them

‘of a tremendous”amount 'of the housekeeping'work involved in conducting ex-

periments and putting on ﬁroup-demonstra.t.ions, and it has freed many of them

deal more effectively with individual students. In
situations where there are simmply no physics teachers at all, the course is actually
teaching students sticcessfully, 'and students who take subsequent achievement
tests following exposure 'to these films seem: to fare as well as many students
who have been taught in the ordinary process. .

During the past year, working in close collaboration with the American. Chem-
ical Society, we produced and have just released a second complete film course,
the introductory course in chemistry at the senior high school level. ~ Preliminary
tests in more than a dozen school systems indicate that this effort is even more

successful than its predecessor. Here again, s master teacher—Dr. John
Baxter—chosen by his own colleagues in science education, working closely with

a team of specialists and consultants, has succeeded in britiging a level of teaching
gkill and a variety of teaching resources into this critical ficld. on a seale simply
noi‘;‘Poeaible under other procedures.” — \

e are now at work in at least two.other important subject areas—biology
and the humanities, The first 12 films in a proﬁc;aed humanities course designed
to replace the present 11th year English course have been filmed and extensively
tested, and work will proceed on this project during the Coming year, iy

In every area in which we have had an opportunity to stidyv the resulte from
the use of complete courses on film, the findings have clearly indicated that stu-
dents tanght in this fashion will do as well, if not better, on standard achievement
teststhar'those taught by conventional methods. There is evidence that, teachers,
exposed to these films, improve ‘their own abilities. The students enjoy and re-
apond to this new. learning technigue, and we hatve already seen many of them,
going on to college, excel in physics (for,example) in the company of classmates
whotook.their introductory science in 2 conventional manner,

i There is reasonto believe, therefore, that the deyelopment of complete courses
on film may be.a significant.answerto.soms, of our gravest problems in the science
teaching field, ' . :

; IN SUMMARY

" My goal in this testimony has beetita illustrate the need for bold and construc-

tive action in the use of our modern resources in instructional materials to meet
the needs of the modern educational process. 3 .

The important. thing is that these new and powerful materials already exist—
they do not have to be invented—and we do not have to tear our system apart
to use them, Our teachers want them. There are great human resources avail-
able, too, in the persons of the many trained, competent audiovisual specialists
in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. They represent a precious nucleus of
skills in the use and distribution of these materials. :

The action to. be taken has been brilliantiy=outlined by Dr. Charles Boghm,
‘your. ohief educatignal officer. ‘His recommendatiop for cooperative action in

the formiing of strategically placed film libraries is sound, modern, and in the
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direction in which maximum results have been achieved elsewhere. His leader-
ship in this entire area of utilizing modern communications techniques to build
a better school system within the long-range means of the community has earned
him the admiration and respeet of modern educational administratorsevery-
where. I associate myself with his program without reservation. . !

Any educator who supports widespread use of educational films in the class-
rooms of the Commonwealth speaks both for the teachers and the community,
Dr. Boehm's program deserves the fullest auﬁport, and I respectfully suggest that
you will be doing a great service to those who want to meet the challenge of our
times in education if your recommendations and findings include his audiovisual
program, .

Senator Muskie. In the expectation, Mr. Chairman, that S. 2511
is endcted, we will be breaking ground in this important fechnological
field for the benefit of this limited group of deaf persons,and I would
like Mr. Mitchell’s testimony in the record as perhaps &gigu of better
things to come in the use of modern technology and modern tech-
nological aids in the field of education. Thank you very much, Mr.
Chairman. . b gk :

(The prepared staternent of Hon. John' E. Fogarty fol ows:)

PrerARED STATEMENT OF Hon. JoEN E. FoGARTY, A MEMBER oF TaE HoUsE
of ReprEsenTaTivES From TAR STATE OF RHODE IsnAnD

Mr. FosarTy. At this critieal iime in aur Nation, when we are layiog the
groundwork for a frontal attack upon the problems of education, old age, and
unemployment to name a few, it is.appropriate that we should give further con-
sideration to our physically handicapped citizens. These citizens are involved
in & lifelong struggle to lead as normal a life as possible. "They have the same
hoF_es, the same desires, and aspire to the sanie heichts as other citizens.

n their struggle for normal lives, an important new aid has been afforded ¢ he
deaf through the medium of captioned films. The limited Federal program
which 'makes available captioned filme for the deaf hds beed it operation for
glightly over a period of 2 years. - Established under Publio Law. 85-905; this
program has demopstrated its vital importance in helping to overeome the isola<
tion which blights the lives of many deaf people, |

Captioned films are emerging a8 a most significant educational tool for use with
the deaf of all ‘mges. - The scope of the present captioned films statute is too
limited; however, to permit this new medium to achieve full realization of its
capabilities, There. is need not only for expansion.of present budgetary support
but for a broadening of program objectives. M AR TR

At present, saptioned films reach some 9,000 persons.in 640 organized groups
of deaf persons per month, 'This figure'is but a ‘tiny fraction of the total deaf
population estimated at 260,000 persons, Filmedsubjeots offered to this audience
include approximately 60 older Hollywood feature pictures, and a tiny handful
of educational subjects. So meager is the supply of materials that groups regis-
tered for gervice are obliged to request films as muech as 2 years in advance in
order to get gervice: © There simply are not enough printe' t6 go' around.

To meet this situation in which probably less than one-fifth of the intended
sudience is being reached, S. 2511 and my identical companion measure, H.R.
9456, propose to remove the budget ceiling of $250,000 from the captioned-films
service. They propose expansion of the program so that all deaf citizens—young
and old—can enjoy the educational and cultural stimulation of captioned films:
They provide programs of researeh, development, and training which will further-
enhance the use of this new medium for the advancement of the deaf. ;

Pm}?ﬁ? of S. 2511 is imperative a= a minimum guarahtee that those who are
deaf shall not fall behind in the modern drive for a better educated and more
effective citizenry. Although it is true that the deaf are but a small minority,
they, too, have a contribution to make. It is our responsibility to provide them
with the means of self-improvement in order that they may realize their maximum
capabilities, In so doing, the Congress will have served not only these handi-
capped citizens but the entire Nation. ' et imk-ke ¥ e

According to information rec ntly supplied by the Office of Education, an
expanded film program of the dimensions contemplated under 8. 2611 eo 1d
provide multiple prints of 50 educational films per year in g aut.%_ies sufficient
to reach every one of the more than 400 schools for tlgn,e deaf in the United State .
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It could provide filmstrips in like quantities and covering not less than 100 titles
per year. At the same time it could supply from 40 to 50 feature films per year
in quantities to serve a substantial majority of the adult deaf population. Con-
tinuation over a period of 5 years could result in a film library of extent and
diversity to serve the entire deaf population of all ages with captioned films.

In the area of Eroduction, specialized educational and training films and film-
strips to deal with problems peculiar to the deaf such as speech, speech reading,
auditory training, and refraining for job placement will be produced at the rate
of five per month to serviee some 25,000 deaf schoolchildren and an undetermined
number of deaf adults conservatively estimated at 5,000 to 8,000 annually. _
© At the same time such an expanded program will finance research in related
technical matters, standards for development and use of filmed teaching tech-
niques, utilization of other newer media including television and programed
learning, and basic curriculum problems of schools and adult education programs
as related fo films. _ _ : :

Finally, the contemplated program will include concentrated courses of training
for parents of deaf children; rehabilitation workers, and others to familiarize them
with the materials made available by this act and to facilitate and extend the use
of the various media for elevating the whole educational status of the deaf popu-
lation. The comprehensive program authorized by 8.'2511 can be had for less
than $2 million per year. It is a small price for a service that can lift the deaf
out of second-class eitizenship to whieh they are now relegated,

Ser}?ator PrLy. Senator Yarborough, do you wish to make a state-
ment? e, S ha - b '

Senator YArBoroUuGH. Mr. Chairman, I desire to commend the
chairman and Senator Muskie for the coauthorship of S. 2511.

I think Senator Muskie has well pointed out the inequity of appro-
priations. Also there is the particularly valuable statistic in connec-
tion with the statement just made by Chairman Pell, that is not
commonly understood that the deaf child, in comparison for instance
to the blind child, has & much more difficult learning process.

I am personally acquainted with a member of the University of
Texas faculty—he was formerly on the Columbia faculty—and have
heard him lecture on extrasensory perception, and one question he
asks of his class, of his audience, 1s, “If you had your choice, if you
knew in advance you would be born blind or deaf, which would you
choose?” - B ety b fois

Practically every person who has' both hearing and vision says,
“Well, T would prefer to be born deaf.”

_"And he will say, “You are mistaken; a child who is born blind has
a better opportunity for leading a more nearly normal life thao a child
Eomﬁ?f through the benefits of the learning process with the use of

Ll 1) AT 1o THITI i ok THRAMIS O SRS QNg B

Now that has been ably painted out by the chairman, and that is

nogdgenera.lly understood. And T think the need for this is great.

My interest has been further heightened over the years by personal
acquaintance with Mrs. Joseph Jones of this city who is a great-
granddaughter of Alexander Graham Bell, who was a teacher of the
deaf. Alexander Graham Bell stumbled on his invention of the
telephone -accidentally by working with devices for teaching the deaf.
That family has been interested in the problems of teaching the deaf.
His father was a teacher of the deaf. oy e :

So through: these acquaintanceships and experiences, what I have
learned through' these and other sources, I'am very much interested
in this problem, and I want to commend Senators Muskie and Pell
for the introduction and sponsorship of this measure. _

Senator Muskie, I am very much interested in what you say about
audiovisual aids. The Subcommittee on Education received much

E
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valuable testimony on this point in the hearings on the National
Defense Education Act in 1958, which provided for more extensive
use of audiovisual aids than the measure that finally passed. The
measure was amended in many respects and stripped down:in the
House and Senate before finally being passed.

The Encyclopedia Britannica representative who testified there, as
did others, performed visual demonstrations before us showing the
value of these audiovisual aids to teaching.

It is a pleasure to be on this subcommittee, Mr. Chairman. I want
to say to the witnesses listed here that I would like very much to hear
every one of them, but I am on a.nother committee that meets at
10:30, at which a Cabinet officer is testifying and protocol requires
that we give precedence to those meetings. So it is with great regret
that I will be forced to leave here at 10:30.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for your leadership on this subcom-
mlblee _

Senator PrLrL, Sena,tor Tower, you are a former teacher a,nd 'L
know, interested in this field, I wonder if you might care to make any
comments?

Senator Tower. I am convinced of the merits of this progra,m
myself, and would like to commend the chairman on his leadership
in this matter.

Like Senator Yarborough, I have a conflicting committee meetmg,
going on right now, and I must attend that.

I would like to sa.y that I throw my support, for whatever. it is
worth, behind Senators Pell and Muskie. I am very sorry I will not
be able to stay for all the testlmony, but will have the beneﬁt of the
transcript.

Senator Perr. Thank you Sena,tor Tower.:

I, as chairman, would like to pay tribute to Senator. Muskie who
has had this ides and taken the leadership in it in the past and without
whom the bill would not be in being.

I would like to put into the record at this time 1 letter thu.t Sena.tor
Williams, who is also a member of the subcommittee, but unable to
be with us this morning, asked to be placed in the record.

th:}l)eulettar is from Mr. Robert Wmalsk} who gives his support to
this bi

(The letter from Mr, Wma,lskl follows:) -

Senator HARRISON A, WILLIAMB Jr 2]
U.S. Senate, Washington, D.C, :

Dear SpnaTor WiLniams: As one of your constituents I res ectfully urge
that you support a bill before the Senate, S. 2511. This bill expands the adminis-
tration of captioned films for the deaf.

- As the parent of a young man handicapped with deafneéss who will be entering
Gallaudet College this fall, T know the value of this media which has previously
been used only in recreational programs. Through regsearch and development
it has been demonstrated that there is much value in this media for educational
?u:poses The use of films and filmstrips in the classroom for the deaf would be

reeful visual aids. There are 1,000 deaf children who attend the residential
school at Trenton and the day classes in Jersey City, Newark, Paterson, and
Woodbridge, who need your support of this legislation for the better educational
opportunities it offers them

Sincerely,
Ronmm H., Wm.&nsm,
- Belleville, N.J.

B7700—062——3
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Senator PenL. Now I would like to call as our next witness the
Assistant Commissioner of the Office of Education, Department of
Health, Education, and Welfare, Mr. Muirhead, and also Mr. John

A. Gough.

STATEMENT OF PETER MUIRHEAD, ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER,
OFFICE OF EDUCATION, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, EDUCA-
TION, AND WELFARE; ACCOMPANIED BY JOHEN A. GOUGH,

 CHIEF, CAPTIONED FILMS SECTION, OFFICE OF EDUCATION,
HEW '

Senator Pern. Do you want to start off and introduce yoursell for
the record, sir? ' \

Mr. MumrrEAD. Mr., Chairman, T am Peter Muirhead, Assistant
Commissioner for Education. I am accompanied by Mr. John Gough,
who 18 the Chief of the Captioned Films Section in the Office of
Education. :

We are both privileged and pleased to appear before your committee
in support of this bill to provide for the production and distribution
of edueational and training films for use by deaf persons and other
purposes.

1 should like to report to you, Mr. Chairman, that at the request of
the chairman of the committee we have submitted a report in favor
of this bill, and with your permission I should like to make a short
Sﬁat%]i?lem in harmony with that report, indicating, our support of
the : ; -

Senator PeLL. In addition to that, I imagine you would like the
statement itself put in the record?

Mr. Muiraeap. We would be pleased to have that, Mr. Chairman.

Senator Perr. It will be done. =~
(S. 2511 and a report from the Department of Health, Education,

and Welfare follow:)
[8. 2511, 87th Cong., 1st sess.]

A BILL o provide for the production and distribution of educational and training films for use by deaf
i persons, and for other purposes

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives of the Uniled States of
America in Congress assembled, That (a) the first section of the Act entitled ‘“An
Act to provide in the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare for a loan
service of captioned films for the deaf’’, approved September 2, 1958 (72 Stat.
1742), is amended to read as follows:

That the objectives of:this Act are—

“(a) to promote the general welfare of deaf persons by (1) bringing to such
persons understanding and appreciation of those films which play such an
important part in the general and cultural advancement of hearing persohs,
(2) providing, through these films, enriched educational and cultural expe-
riences through which deaf persons ean be brought into better touch with ihe
realities of their environoment, and (3) providing a wholesome and rewarding
experience which deaf persons may share together; and

‘(b) to promote the educational advancement of deaf persons by (1)
carrying on research in the use of educational and training films for the deaf,
(2) producing and distributing educational and training films for: the deaf,
and (3) training persons in the use of films for the deaf.” _

(b) Section 4 of such Act is amended to read as follows:

“Smvc. 4. There are hereby authorized to be apgropriat.ed for each fiseal year
such funds as may be necessary to carry out the objectives of this Act.”



CAPTIONED FILMS FOR THE DEAF < 15

DevarT™ENT OF Huavrs, EpucaTiON, AND WELPARE,
Washington, May 21, 1962.
Hon. Lister Hrvy,
Chairman, Senate Committee on Labor and Public Welfare,
U.S. Senate, Washington, D.C

Drar Mr. CoairManN: This is in response to ﬁour request of September 8,
1961, for a report on 8. 2511, a bill to provide for the production and distribution
of educational and training films for use by deaf persons, and for other purposes.

- This bill would amend Public Law 85-905, which suthorizes an annual appro-
gh:t:on of $250,000 to provide for the establishment of & loan service of captioned

s available to. groups of deaf persons for nonprofit purposes of an educational
and cultural character. The -Secretary is authorized to acquire appropriate
films, provide for their captioning; and arrange for their dlstrci:)utrmn The act
is administered by the Commissioner of Education.

The amendments that would be made by S. 2511 would authorize the conduct
of research in the use of educational and training films for the deaf, the production
and distribution of such films, and the fraining of persons in the use of films for
the deaf. The act would a.lso e a.mended to. remove the a.nnual appropriation
ceiling of $250,000. Filiy (e ke {i il
_ The program authorlzed by the cmstm act now serves 640 organized groups of
deaf persons in’ the Unitéd States.  This number is steadily increasing. It
represents about 25,000 deaf schoolchildren and a total annual audience of
more than 92,000 deaf | persons.  The demand for the ﬁlms continues to expand and
as educators observe the response of deaf groups to thig medium the conviction
grows that captioned films have a much wider use for the deaf than is now being
achieved. This conviction was voiced by leading educator of the deaf at the
conclusion of a conference held by the Office of Education in Washington, D.C.,
on December 7-8, 1961. In a statement of conclusions and recommendatlons,
thescc%%l'f{ees recommended broadening of the existing act along lines parallel
to .

Txperience with captioned films indicates the need for research in a numhcr of
areas relating to their use. Among these are: Standards of eaptioning and
t.echmques ‘of projection; the development of experimental films utilizing anima-
tion and other speeial t.echmques and the most effective utilization of films
in the education, and training of deaf children and -adults. . Such research is
unlikely to be initiated in the absence of specific provisions to encourage it be-
cause a major portion of the kinds of research needed has a very linited a }Il:.phca-
bility outside this specw.l field of 1 mqmry ‘Moreover, there is a4 need for t
duction of films to train the deaf in those specialized areas of speech reading,
speech, language development,.and social adjustment of the hearing handicapped.

his need is unllkely to be met commercially because of the limited market for
the distribution of such films.

For the above reasons we recommend that' thé bill be enacted.

‘We are advised by the Bureau of the Budget that there is no ob;ectmn to the
presentsa.tlon olf t.hm report from the standpomt of the administration’s program,

inecere y, : _

i & WiLsur J. Conex,
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Captioned films for the deaf

1963 1064 1005 1966 1067
T g D T NS SERREY, RIRCeg FSeec e A IES bl S e
N roention arh 4 stribution of flms....| ~ $880,000 | 81,005,000 | $1,170,000 | §1,280,000 | 1,370,000
12 0 a0 ution | ¥ " L » 4 J
Resegrch and training. .. oeoo-Zee 825,000 345, 000 370, 000 390, 000 400, 000
Total new obligational authority....| 1,205,000 | 1,440,000 | 1,540,000 | 1,670,000 1, 770, 000
Expenditures: . ;
Production and distribution of films.__| -~ 660,000 | 1,041,000 | 1,151,500 | 1,252 500 1,347,000
Research and training_ . ______________ 200, 600 343, 000 ', 500 388, 000 389, 000
Total expenditures. ....cocoeaceaaaan | 860,000 | 1,384,000 | 1,519,000 | 1,640,500 1, 746, 000
Administrative expenses: !
‘Obl ons; i g s
arsonal serviees. ..o __._________} 71,000 89, 000 80, 000 89, 000 80, 000
. Other:.__. Bl 49,!109 . 40, 40, 000 40, 000 40, 000
Total new obligational authority. 120, 000 129, 000 120,000 | 120,000 129, 000
Expenidituped.ccvervsrnsesinsmmmnescns .| - 108,000 128, 000 129, 000 129, 000 120,000
Number of positlons. 1 11 11 11 11
Man-years of employment....ccceeeaneasan 9 12 13 18 |t 12

I Amounts anthorized as necessary.

Mr. Murraeap. We would like to add our voice to the very elo-
quent statement of Senator Muskie in support of this very promising
piece of legislation. ceh N :

The bill would amend Public Law 85-905 which authorizes an
annual appropriation of $250,000 to provide for the establishment of
a loan service of captioned films available to groups of deaf persons
for nonprofit %urposes of an educational and cultural character.

Under this bill the Secretary is authorized to acquire appropriate
films, provide for their captioning, and arrange for their distribution.
The act at the present time is nﬁminist.ered y the Commissioner of
Education. s St ; -

The amendments proposed by S. 2511 would authorize the conduct
of research in the use of educational and training films for the deaf,
the production and distribution of such films, and the training of
persons in the use of films for the deaf. . The act would also be
amended to remove the annual appropriations ceiling of $250,000.

We would like to report that the program authorized by t,he"exist.t"u;g
act now serves 640 organized groups of deaf persons in the Uni
States. This number is steadily increasing. It represents about
25,000 deaf schoolehildren and a total annual audience of more than
92,000 deaf persons. The demand for the films continues to expand,
and as educators observe the response of deaf groups to this medium,
the conviction grows that captioned films have a much wider use for
the deaf than i1s now being. achieved,

This convietion was voiced by leading educators of the deaf at the
conclusion of & conference held by the %)ﬁ‘ice of Education in Wash-
ington, D.C. In a statement of conclusions and recommendations
the conferees recommended broadening of the existing act along lines
parallel to S. 2511.

Mr. Chairman, with your permission I should like to have put into
the record the report of that conference and their recommendations.

Senator PeLL. Without objection, that will be done.

(The report referred to follows:)
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- ConrBRENCE ON UTILizATION 0F CAPTIONED FILMS FOR THE DRAF,
e i : . DeceEMBER 7 AND 8; 1961

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The conference finds that the captioned films program is making remarkable
progress within existing limitations. = At the same time it is recognized that
captioned films have an educative potential for the deaf which is largely un-
developed. Therefore, it is recommended as follows:

L. ‘6]111 e recognizing the heed for very substantial incereases in the number and
variety of films of broad popular appeal, the conference believes that there is an
equally urgent need for more captioned teaching films. The program must be
expanded to meet this need if the deaf are to hold their own on a general educational
front which is pushing forward steadily through application of new media.

II. In the matter of indicating priorities as to types of educational films, it is
the consensus of the conference that films for social studies teaching at the upper

rimary and lower intermediate levels are of first importance. It is recommended
urther that films for other grade levels in the same and other areas be added as
rapidly as possible to provide a demonstration in one subject area of the efficacy
of ca?).t.ioned_ films techniques for the entire span of the curriculum. T
111, The conference further endorses a broadening of the scotpe of the program—

. (a) To permit the support, under grant or contract, of research concerned
'with the production and utilization of captioned films and related materials

in teaching the deaf and that for purposes of determining the funding of

.. research grants there be established an advisory commiftee within the cap-

. tioned films section. ; e
(b)) To permit the conducting of demonstrations, fraining conferences,
and institutes and the dissemination of visual aid ‘or filmed materials to en-
courage and assist in the more effective use of materials made available
through the captioned films program. - | :
(¢) To permit the production of such specialized films as may be required
for purposes of research into the problems of the deaf and for providing more
adequate educational and cultural materials for the deaf. '
* (d) To inelude in the captioned films program the opportunity to utilize
‘the advances in other new media areas of a visual nature.

IV. It is further recommended that any legislation enacted to expand and
improve the captioned films service for the deaf should clothe the appropriate
administrative agency with authority and funds sufficient to carry out the purposes
set forth above. I s P 1

'Mr. Muiraesp. Experience with captioned films indicates the need
for research in a number of areas relating to their use. Among these
are standards of captioning and techniques of projection, the develop-
ment of experimental films' 'u_tmzmii animation 'and ' other "special
techniques, and the most effective utilization of films in the education
and training of deaf children and adults. 'Such research is unlikely
to be initiated in the absence of specific provisions to encourage it
because a major portion of the kinds of research needed has a very
limited applicability outside this special field of inquiry. g g

Moreover, thert is a need for the production of films to train the
deaf in those specialized areas of speech reading, speech, language
development, and social adjustment of the hearing handicapped.
This need is unlikely to be met commercially because of the limited
market for the distribution-of such films. _ :

‘We are pleased, Mr. Chairman, to appear before you in support of
this bill and we would like ‘to recommend the bill be enacted.

Senator Pern. Thank ]\ggu very much, Mr, Muirhead.

I wonder if Mr, Gough has any statement to give to the record?
And we thank him very much indeed for the statement submitted to
Senator Muskie for the record. .~ ° :
“Mr. Govan. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.



18 CAPTIONED FILMS FOR THE DEAF

I might make three brief observations, one suggested by the
comments of Senator 'Yarborough in ‘connection with Alexander
Graham Bell’s invention of the telephone.

Alexander Graham Bell was a teacher of the deaf and also had a
wife who was deaf, as T am sure the Senator is aware.

This whole picture of communications has taken tremendous strides
since the invention of "the telephone, and we live in an age which is
characterized by very rapid advances in communications of all kinds,

articularly through the mass media such as television and radio.
%ut the fact is, as far as the deal person is concerned, that his position
is relatively worse, and worse in the communications picture because
increasingly the media through which people are reached leave him
more isolated. e i 2,

- So when you assess the whole circumstance of the deaf person’s life,
he is losing ground. It seems to me it is high time that we directed at
least some of the technological information, equipment, and skills that
we have at the present time toward helping establish a position where
he will be more nearly on a par and able to go l:'drwa.l‘g. I feel that
captioned films offer one such means. . i

Secondly, I think we need to recognize the fact that we are in an age
when education, generally speaking, is struggling to break bonds that
have held it back. We are looking t_ow.a.rf many new programs and
a great deal of research to-forward education generally. l-g{rere again
I think it is true that the deaf person, because of a more or less static
condition in the education of the deaf, is falling behind.

So on these two counts he is at a great disadvantage.

A third point of rather general significance in the whole pattern of
the adjustment of people to their social and economic life was cited
in Fortune magazine and then reprinted in Reader’s Digest, where I
chanced on these figures. Since 1947 white collar employment has
gone up 43 percent as opposed to an increase of 14 percent in so-
called blue collar employment or the service trades. Characteristi-
cally, because of an educational lag, the deaf person belongs to this

latter group for the most part. e do haye some who achieve pro-
fessional status but. they are a relatively small part of the deaf
population.

“onsequently, the opportunities for employment are limited for the
deaf person and becoming more so as we become a more highly skilled
populace. The opportunity for better training, for better vocational
adjustment, for better personal and social adjustment that might flow
from the captioned films seem to me to be a very real need that
grows more acute as time goes on. :

It is a pleasure to have the opportunity to speak on this and I
thank you very much, indeed, sir. : _ :

Senator Perr. Thank you very much, gentlemen,

Do you have any questions, Senator Yarborough? ;

Senator YArsorouGH. No, thank you, Mr. Chairman. I regret
that I am required to go to the other committee. .
g Sﬁnator PeLL. Thank you, Senator. It was very nice of you to

e here. 2L feoediet :

Senator Muskie, do you have any questions? : F 3ok
¥ Senator Muskie. I would like to say I appreciate the cooperation
I have had from Mr. Gough over the last couple of years in educating
me on the educational needs of the deaf. do not know whether
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there will be in the record before this morning’s testimony is com-
pleted some picture of educational opportunities that are available
to the deaf persons in the country. I wonder if this might be the
appropriate time to get at least a thumbnail sketch? 1 would be
interested in seeing in the record, not only a thumbnail sketch of the
opportunities available, but the extent to which teaching techniques,
teaching methods have progressed and advanced over the years to
improve the educational status of deaf persons.
r. Gouvgn. May I teply to that? '

With regard to the facilities that are available, there are approx-
imately, I think, 100 schools for the deaf which deal strictly with deaf
children. Most of these are residential in nature, such as the State
school in your own State of Maine at Baxter Island, or the school in
Providence, R.I. All over the country there are State schools for the
deaf and a number of private schools.

Senator Muskie. How many students? :

Mr. Goven. Altogether there are approximately 27,000, I believe.
These figures are published each year in the American Annals of the
Dealf. recollection serves me right the total is about 27,000.

Senator Muskie. Are these schools both secondary and primary?

Mr. Gouen. They are mostly primary schools, taking youngsters
through junior high school. The better student gets through junior
high school and some complete high sehool. But these are uncommon.
There are not too many actual high school graduates from the schools
for the deaf.

Senator Muskie. Are all these schools publicly supported to some
degree, or are some of them

Mr. GoueH. Some of them are private, but the great bulk of them
are publicly supported. _

In addition to those schools for the deaf there are what we call
day classes and day schools. These are small groups of deaf children
that are gathered together in metropolitan centers. Frequenfly they
are similar to a one-room country school, you might say, because
such a class often has quite an age spread. arL

Senator Muskie. Is the capacity of these schools sufficient to
provide the demand? '

Mr. GougH. The capacity, I would be inclined to say, is perhaps
sufficient. The deficiency of teachers is the thing the Congress has
already recognized in the passage of a special bill to provide teachers
of the deaf, to recruit a.mf train them. This, as you know, is going
forward at the present time, but the short,a?e of teachers is still a very
severe problem in the education of the deaf.

Senator Muskie. I wonder if you would like to comment on the
techniques for teaching? :

Mr, GoveH. The techniques have advanced in the education of
the deaf. One of the big steps forward has been the use of high-
powered group hearing aids in recent years. This has been a great
step forward for those who have some remnant of hearing. There
have been systems of language training devised and there have been
an berof forward steps. &gl‘his basic problem of language instruc-
tion has really not yet been cracked. This is the stone wall, you
might say, that we come up against. Research that has been done
on this problem is not too plentiful, and the materials provided for
teachers of the deif are extremely limited.
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So there are great needs here end problems that we need to feee
resolutely if we are going to make a good job of teaching the: deaf.

‘Senator MuskiE, What is the b&sm problem in that conneet.lon‘r‘

Mr, Gougsn. The basic problem in _

Senator Musxie. The langu

Mr..Gouan, Language? %Vaﬁ No. 1, it is simply the fact that the
chﬂd has no normal patterns, of la,ngua, e such as we hearing people
acquire through hearing. Consequently, when he does acquire a
vocabulary, %mh he must do from the ground up, he has no sense of
how these words should be put together in order to get them to convey
the meaning that he has. This is & very slow &ng laborious process
when you do not have the heanng baekgrouxld for language as a ba,sxs
upon which to build. £

Senator Muskre. Do you think the educatlonal aids. mlght be an
answer to this particular problem?. - :

Mr. Goues. -Educational aids?.

Senator Muskie. Films. = . ;

‘Mr. GougH. Fllms might be a very. real help for the reason that we
learn language in environmental situations .where we hear the words
attached to.the substance of what we are observing. The deaf child
is very limited in this.. He does not: receive the, words and conse-
quently a great deal Df what he sees is not really comprehended.
Consequently, if we can have films that are carefully planned, and
verbalization to go with them, we think we can overcome the lengua.ge
handicap by this means. It seems a very promising device..

Senator Muskis. As a matter of fact, all teaching techm ues for
thg deaf are aimed at the fact he has the use of his sight; is that not
80

Mr. GoucH. Necessarily, plus the fact that there is some a,udltory
training. But, in the man, it is visual.

Senetor Muskrs. So whet we propose to do with these films is to
make use of, or expand upon techniques that are already being used
and depended n very largely to teach the deaf?

Mr. Gouen, Xnd as you imply, I think, to do what we do in all
habilitation and rehabilitation of handlcapped people; namely, to
build on the strengths that they have, which in this case, of course,
is vision.

_ Senator Muskis, Thank you verv much

1 thought this little beekground mey be useful as a preface Lo the
rest of the testimony. . :

Senator PrLn. Thank you -

There is one further question that comes to mmd in connection
Erlmhdghls co]loquy The,t is, what portion of the totally deaf are also

in i

-Mr. Goven, . Thls is a verv sma.]l percentage; Thc lasﬁ ﬁgures I
saw on this are not up to date, but it seems to me there are probably
600 people in the country who are deaf-blind. :

‘Senator Prrr. So in other words, this program would be of real
help to the vast majority of the totally deaf. et

Mr. Goues. It certainly would.

Senﬁmtor Prrrn. Thank you very mueh ‘Mr. Muu'head and V.[r
Goug _ Mg

NOW we will call the next five Wltnesses as a panel

Mr. Lloyd Ambrosen, superintendent of Maryland School for the
Deaf, and viee presuient Convention of American Instructors of the
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Deaf; Mr. John Y. Crouter, prineipal, Rhode Island School for the
Deaf, Providence, R.I.; Dr. William McClure, superintendent,
Indiana School for the Deaf and president, Conference of Executives
of American Schools for the Deaf, Indianapolis, Ind.; Dr. Harley Z.
Wooden, associate executive secretary, Council for Exceptional
Children, Arlington, Vu.; and Mr. Joseph P. Youngs, Jr., superin-
tendent, Governor Baxter State School for the Deaf, Portland, Maine.

Would you come fofward, gentlemen. ' &

‘Dr. McClure, T wonder if you would identify yourself and start
out, and introduce your colleagues as you go along.

Dr. McCrure Yes, indeed.

STATEMENT OF DR, WILLIAM McCLURE, SUPERINTENDENT,
INDIANA SCHOOL FOR TEHE DEAF AND PRESIDENT, CONFER-
ENCE OF EXECUTIVES OF AMERICAN SCHOOLS FOR THE DEAF,
INDIANAPOLIS, IND. - _ :

Dr. MoCrure. It is a pleasure for me to appear before this. com-
mittee and the other visitors present in support of S. 2511,

As a. matter of background, L think I should say I am a native
Missourian, but I am presently superintendent of the Indiana School
for the Deaf. Prior to that I was superintendent of the Tennessee
State School for the Deaf at Knoxville, Tenn. I began my work in
educating the deaf as a member of the faculty of Gallaudet College
here in Washington.

1 am:also president of the Conference of Executives of American
Schools for the Deaf, an organization established in 1868 to promote
the education of the deaf along the widest and most effective lines,
and also to work for the betterment, welfare of the adult deaf of our
country. This organ zation is composed of heads of schools for the
deaf of the United States and Canada.

I am a member of the National Adv sory Committee on Public Law,
87-276 which is an act passed by Congress to assist in recruiting and
training teachers of the deaf and operates under the U.S. Office of
Education. . _

I .am a member of the American Instructors of the Deaf, the largest
mssociation of teachers of the deaf in the world, and have been editor
of their convention proceedings since 1951.

I am a life member of the National Association of the Deaf, and
at-the risk of recalling a joke about the New England firm which,
when asked for references on a young man, gave a great deal of per-
sonal information, I think I should say that I am the third generation
of my family to engage in this work, all four of my grandparents
and both of my parents having been educators of the deaf.

My father was head of the North Dakota and Missouri Schools of
the Deaf, I think that is evidence of a continued and abiding interest
in deaf persons. : gl

I might say that most of the other members of the panel have also
had long and continued association with the deaf.

The deaf are beset with serious problems in communication and
education. Deafness to me, in some way, seems to be misclassified
when it is considered with other physical handicaps because deafness
itself is inv sible. Most other physical handicaps, including blind-

877690—62—4
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ness, are visible to the naked eye. Deafness is more of an educational

and a social problem. This of course i3 due to the communication

aspects of deafness. That is, it is difficult for a deaf person to identify.

himself with other individuals, and particularly in large groups.

He tends to be more or less isolated or at the mercy of other persons
in being kept in touch with the things that are going on in the world

about him or in the social situation in which he finds himself.

I do not feel that the public generally understands the effects of
this handicap. So often tge visitors who come to our schools for the
deaf have questions which illustrate their total lack of understanding
of the problem. Often they will come in and say, “When do you
begin to teach braille?” - :

We of course will say, “Well, we think you have us mixed up with
the school for the blind.” Then they are a little bit embarrassed.
Then they think of another question and say, “We can understand
why the children do not hear, they are deaf, but why den’t they speak?”’

o say, “Well, if they spoke, would you expect them to spesk
English, French, or German?”’

hen they begin to get the idea that peaple speak only because they
imitate what they have heard around them from the time they are
born. Thosé of us who were born in the Midwest speak like mid-
westerners, New Englanders have therr way of speaking, and south-
erners speak with a southern accent, not because of where they were
born, but the way people have spoken around them as they were ac-
quiring speech.

Despite the difficulties of teaching & deaf child to speak intelligently
when he is not able to hear, to monitor his own speéch and to imitate
the speech of others, these problems are minor as compared to the
problem of teaching him language. When we think of the thousands
of words that a hearing child hears from the time he is born until the
time he first says “Mama,” or “Daddy;” or something that brings:
delight'to the family when heis 10, 11, 12, 14 months old, we realize
how often we have to hear something to be able to start using it.

A deaf child who las not heard at all, of course, has heard no words.
Words themselves do not mean language. We can teach children t
say “good morning,” “hello,”” “mother,” and “father,” and that is
not communicétion. - The problem is to*teach an understanding of
language so that language becomes the medium of communication,
whether it be in spee(ﬁ:, writing, or any other form in which language
can be used as the medium of commi nication and es the vehicle for
conveying thought and thus become the avenue for education.

As T say, the tools for education themselves are the most difficult
for the deaf chld to acqure. After he has acquired the tools of
education, then these must be used 1 giving him the same:type of
edﬁmalt.ion' that his hearing contemporaries receive in the public
schools.

One other thought about the handicap of deafness. I think I should
poinitout that all other types of handicapped children are educated
in ways quite similar to these used with the normal child. Blind chil-
dren, crippled children and all others are educated through the ise of
speech and hearing. Only the deaf child is denied this avenue of
communication: To educate the deaf child, to teach him the language
that he needs for the education, we must use every possible niediam
to expose this child to language during all of his waking hours.
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I do not know whether the story is true or'not, but it illustrates
the difficulties of teaching a proper understanding of language to a:
deaf child. ' i

In‘our school for the deaf, eaclFmorning we have what is called the
morning news period. At that time the children are required to give
back to the teacher language that they have learned in describing
what they did between tge time school closed the day before and the
time they came to school in the morning. And they tell the story
about this little boy, and I won’t name the child, that had observed
a little girl give her morning news. She had been' taught the word
“‘dress” as both a noun and verb, and she explained she got up this
morning; brushed her teeth, washed her face, and when she put on
her dress she said, “I dressed.” The little boy in telling what he did
said, “I got up this morning, I washed my face, I brushed my teeth.”
Now e dress ‘was not the thing ' he wore; And he could not use 2
feminine word like that, so he conclud ed, “I panted.”

Dr. McCrure. Well, it may net bé a true story, I do not kviow, but
it cotld quite easily happen. Many more ridiculous things than that:
happen a8 we t£y to:teackr deaf children to handle the English language
which they have never been able te hear:

So as I say, we are constantly trying to bathe deal children in
language of all types, ta give them a clear, quick understanding of
language. : LG 22

he deaf do not ask for favors, they just want an oppertunity for a
ood education and an opportunity to compete on equal terms for
jobs with their hearing contemporaries.

I do not know whether the meiribers of the committee or others are
aware of it'or not, but several years ago legislation was proposed to
give the deaf a double income tax exemption such as the blind people
have: In respense the deaf organizations themselves rose up and
notified the persons who were considering this legislation that they did:
not ask for this favor, that they felt they were better able to support
themselves than blind persons if they had an adequate education:
Théy did ask that the opportunities for getting this education and
vﬁ)catimia'l training: be imiproved, but then no further favors after
that. :

T feel that this captioned films bill, would be » step in giving them
what they have asked for and help t.}lem%-bo become independent and
self-supporting. = Deaf persons, of course, with an eduecation are usu-
ally independent and self-supporting. Those with inadequate educa-
tions are likely to suffer economically. Naturally that causes our
country to be less strong; if a certain segment of peopleffmust be
supported all of their lives.

Silent movies were an excellent medium of recreation and education
for the deaf becausé of the language between the pietures. It was
easy for deaf persons to enjoy them, and the experiences they got in
reading were of course beneficial to them. The talkies ruined all this.
Now the newer educational films that are available would be wonderful
for the deaf to enhance and enrich the programs for deaf children
and deaf adults, but unfortunately, many of these newer short subjec s,
educational films, are rather difficult, or quite difficult, to understand
unless they are prepared for deaf persons.

I think Senator Muskie’s question & moment ago and Mr. Gough’s
answer helped illustrate that schools for the deaf are few and far
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between compared 'with public schools..: Noschool for the deaf
that I know of, or no single State, has the resources or the technical
ability to provide the captioning, and all the processes and necessary
re earch - work to ?rovide. adequate visual aids, particularly films for
the use of the deaf children within their own States. _

Just as Gallaudet College here is supported to a great extent by the
Federal Government because no State has enough college students to
justify a college for the deaf within its borders, then I feel the captioned
film program should receive the support of the Federal Government
because it will benefit deaf persons in all of our States, both children
and adults. &, arker Tt ] , :

Someone asked me yesterday about the Purdue,program of airborne
television in the Midwest, if this was a help to us.  Unfortunately,
it is not because thé program is designed for hearing children. Much
thiat goes on is purely auditory or explanations and talks by teachers.
Unless the materiakusedin thid airborne television program is adapted:
for deaf childreny: too, it won’t be of use to the children in seliools for
the deaf in those six Midwestern States. . bt

Programs for the blind are of long standing. The handicap is more
or less visible and the immediate effects in managing one’s environ-
ment ‘are easily imagined by persons who are considering handicaps
of blindness. Close your eyes and you know what a blind person is
up against. You cannot close your ears. You cannot take yourself
back to where you had no language or -understanding of it. Thus
blindness appeals more to the sympathy.

Helen Keller has said that as she grows older she realizes more and
more that deafness is the more serious handicap. It is responsible for
the communication barrier which has such an isolating effect: She has
said if she had:her life to live over again she would probably devote
more of her attentions to assisting the deaf, because now she realizes
the effects of that handicap. = i

I earnestly request your favorable consideration of 8. 2511, It will
place in! the hands of those who work with the deaf a most valuable
toot for aiding the language comprehension of the deaf and thus im-
proving ease of communication and education for this most worthy

roup. i _
: Mr. Wooden, who is the former superintendent: of the Michigan
School for the -be&f; isthe second memlt))er. of our panel. .

Senator Perr. Dr. McClure; we thank you very much. We would
like to ‘also state wewill put in the record your formal statement which
yvou submitted, and the formal statements of all four of your colleagues.

(T'he prepared statement of Dr. McClure follows:)

PrEparED-STATEMENT 0F Dr. Wimpram J. McCLURE, SUPERINTENDENT, INDIANA
Srare Scmoor For THEB DEAF, INDIANAPOLIS, Inn.

Senator Pell and honorable members of the committee; my name:is William J:
McClure. T aman educator of the deaf. I was formerly superintendent of the
Tennessee State School for the Deaf at Knoxville, Tenn., and since 1957 have
rI;e:['Ived as superintendent of the India 1a State School for the Deaf, Indianapolis,

nd. e -

Other related positions and connections include!: =

President; Conference of Executives of American Schools for the Deaf, an
organization of all administrative heads of sehools for the deaf in the United States
and Cenada. : "l FIEHE I
~ Meinber, National Advisory Council, teacher recruitment and training pro-

ram, teachers of the'deaf. 'Thisis a program of the Federal Government in the
I.8. Office of Edueation.
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. too often carries connotations of mental backwardness.
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Life member, National Association of the Deaf: ' it .
nd editor:of the

Member, Convention of ‘Ameérican Instructors of the Deaf
proceedings of that organization since 1951.. R L
" There are in the United States an estimated 250,000 people whose hearing is
so impaired that they are unable, either with or without the help of a hearing aid,
to understand the speech of others. ~Of these persons, approximately 27,000 are
schoolchildren, a majority of whom attend residential schools for the deaf—=State
or private, Others attend public day schools or day classes for the deaf.

n addition to the fact thaf this population group does not hear, it endures a
number of other disabilities, all of which stem from the basic fact of deafness.
“(1) Seldon do they have good speech as measured by normal standards, « They
are oftern referred to by the man-in the street as “deaf and dumb’’, a term which
€] : As a matter of fact,
deaf people are no different from others in regard to intelligence.’ L4 2

(2) Characteristically the deaf have a poor command of language.  Again, this
is because they have never heard language. Lacking adequate language their
whole educational and cultural advancement is more laborious, often resulting
in serious educational retardation. S Bkl P ; i

_(3) The deaf tend to be isolated in & subculture having as its predominant

“mode of communication the language of signs, Since the language of signs is

not' widely understood by the general public¢ its use tends to further isolate the

-group, regardless of its high utility amongst the deaf themselves. Consequently

there is need to exploit every possible means of communication which will help
to minimize the isolation. One such means is captioned films.

I 'Sinee the year 1817, when education of ‘the deaf was instituted in Amerieca,
devoted teachers have struggled persistently to find better ways to meet their
task. Great emphasis has been placed on the teaching of speech and speech
reading. I;J_unguarfe systems to help the deaf person develop n sense of syntax
have been devised. Eleaﬁiig' aids with powerful amplification have been intro-
duced. ' Each innovation has brought some improvement, but the education of
the deaf still lags seriously behind that of the general population.. [t

Since the deaf person is largely limited to learning through his vision, one
might suppose that visual aids would play an important part in his instruction.

In a sense this is true, but the aids provided are usually simple charts, flashcards,
or mounted pictures clipped from magazines that the tfeacher may have available.
Early schools for the deaf often set up museums, but teachers have consistently
come up against the irreversible fact that visual aids without verbalization provide
only weak communication. It was recognition of this facet that led to replace-
ment of the silent picture by the sound film, a development which represented
an advancement for the public at large but a setback for the deaf. As sound
came in, captions of the early movies disappeared, placing one more communication
barrier around the deaf. Television has only heightened this barrier. |

Despite the bleakness of this picture, the future is not without hope. Two
important forward steps have been taken by the Federal Government to help

ameliorate the lot of the deaf. The first of these was the Captioned Film Act of
11958, In my capacity as president of the Conference of Iixecutives of American

Schools for the Deaf and as superintendent, of the school for the deaf which serves
as distributing agent for ca,gtioned films, I have been impressed with the growth
of this program and with the surge of interest on the part of the deaf and those
who work with and for them. The growth experienced thus far indieates that the
service is at least a partial answer to strongly felt needs. :

The second important Federal action on behalf of the deaf was the enactment
by the 87th Congress of the bill to support recruitment and training of teachers
of the deaf. This is going forward in good fashion and we are anticipating the
results 'with high hopes. Hi A i Pt & .

There remains a third step whieh is contemplated in the introduection of 8. 2511.
This is to enlarge the scope of the captioned film program so that it can place in
the hands of teachers and all who work with the deaf the necessary tools to do a
more adequate job. Such an expansion holds promise of opening up for the deaf
not only the wealth of filmed subjects for ordinary projection but the use of edu-
cational television, programed learning and teaching machines, and the whole
array of newer educational media.

Congress, in the enactment of Public Law 85-905 bas already recognized the
basic need for captioned films for the deaf and the necessity of Federal support to
make such a program possible. The enthusiastic response of the deaf community
is a resounding vote of appreciation and gratitude for what has been done thuas
far. Hducators now look forward hopefully to exploitation of the full educational
potential of captioned filins. We believe that this development has real educa-
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tional signiﬁcance for the deaf of all ages and earnestly request favorable considera-
tion of S. 2511 now before your honorable committee.

Senator PeLr. I believe Senator Muskie has a question of you, Dr.
MecClure. S

Senator Muskre. First of all, I appreciate the opportunity of sittin
here and welcoming you people. Dr. MeClure, I would Ivike to as
you this question. Deaf children attending primary and secondary
schools attend through what age? Do they enter school at 5 or 6?

Dr. McCrure. Most schools for the deaf are now accepting deaf
children at around the age of 4. The earlier we can get them started,
the earlier we can attempt to teach speech and lipreading and to
develop language. _

Some schools, I think Mr. Crouter’s school, accepts children con-
siderably younger than that. :

Most of the schools will keep children until they are around 19 or 20.
In exceptional cases we may have a 21-year-old in our school if his
parents have not enrolled him in a school early and if he is showing
progress. We can make an exception and keep him. But ordinarily
our average high school graduate is around 19.

Senator Muskis. So tiey have 15 years of primary and secondary
schooling—education?

Dr. McCrure. That is right.

Senator Muskre. Compared with what for a normal child, 12?

Dr. McCrure. Yes. The handicap itself slows down education.
Deaf children get almost all of their education directly from the
classroom and particularly their language. They do not pick up as
much incidental knowledge and information outside of the classroom
as hearing children do through listening to radio, watching television,
and listening to adult conversation. b i

Senator Muskie. I suspect that the 3-year difference is not a true
measure of their handicap?

Dr. McCrLurg. No. Deal children are actually more retarded
than that educationally. By that I do:not mean in intelligence.
They are not retarded in intelligence; but their educational progress
is somewhat slower, E e \ '

Senator Muskie. Has any attempt been made to measure the effect
of the retardation forces upon them by the physical handicap in this
respect? _ '

_ r. McCrure. Yes, there have been a number of studies that have

pointed out the average retardation of the average deaf child and
the effects in terms of social deprivation. There have been quite a
few studies at Northwestern University gﬂinting out the other handi-
capping effects of deafness, other than educational.

Senator Muskie. This information would be interesting to have,
but I suppose 7 ' i

Dr. McCrurs. They are rather bulky.

Senator Muskie. Thank you, Dr. McClure.

Senator PeLn. Thank you, Dr. McClure.

Dr. Wooden.
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STATEMENT OF DR. HARLEY Z. WOODEN, ASSOCIATE EXECUTIVE
SECRETARY, COUNCIL FOR EXCEPTIONAL CHILDREN, ARLING-
TON, VA. s

Dr. Woopen. T am Harley Wooden. I have come into,this worlz
through the day schools, through a State departnient of public instruc-
tion, and through the superintendency of a State school, and in more
recent years as executive secretary of the Council for Exceptional
Children. I retired from that position this last year. :

I would like to spend just a few minutes talking about how the
hearing child learns language, what kind of problems a deaf child
bumps up against, and what I think the captioned films might do to
help remedy that situation. ' ,

As Senator Muskie pointed out in his talk, the deaf child may come
to school without knowing that he has a name or that anything has a
naine, whereas the hearing ¢ ild comes to school with a vocabulary
of perhaps some 20,000 words, and some of the bright youngsters
may have even as high as 30,000 words. ; ' '

So when you hand a book to a hearing child, his first reader, it is
for the purpose of teaching him how to interpret or how to associate
the printed word with the spoken word thath e already understands,
whereas with tie deaf child, when you give him a book, it is for his
introduction to the subject of language. :

Language is learned by the hearing child through his seeing it drama-
tized. Adults in playing with a baby are always talkinistoiim about
the things that either the adult or the child is doing. a result the
child learmns to understand the concrete statements made about the
situations that he observes. c

He also learns to understand the abstract in very much the same
way, from the multitude of concrete situations where we tell a young-
ster he is good, or something is sweet, or something is beautiful. He
learns to generalize from those statements and to develop an under-
standing of the abstract.

And as has been pointed out here several times, the hearing child is
immersed in & language atmosphere.. He gets the Decessary. repeti-
tions in.order to fix this language that he learns.

However, the deaf child is never in a position, or rather is seldom in
a favorable position, to get language. He must be in a position! where
he can see language that is being spoken, whether it is on the lips, or
whether we are presenting him language on the printed page, or
whether we are presenting him language through finger spelling. So
he receives a very minimum. He lives, you might say, in a serious
deprivation of language experiences.

ore than that, the deaf child must use his single sense of sight in
order to understand language. The hearing child sees the language
dramatized and hears it spoken, but the deaf child must use his eyes
for both purposes. A d that is a rather difficult thing to do.

Consequently, as has been pointed out, the language of these deaf
youngsters as they are progressing through school is very limited
and many of them never do acquire, in a lifetime, a good language
pattern.



books there were.

We heve found hha.t there have been cases in which youngsters heve
learned language through speech, instances in which they have learned
it through finger spelling, msteuces in Whlch they have learned it

'through adults using a pencil and pad. But in every one of these

instances that I have been able to discover, the language has been well
dramatized for them. Some edult spent years giving this sort of
“hpserwce” to the youngster.

i "e_jre here a httle booklet thet I wﬂl leeve for thoee who would

educetmn He entered school at the age of 9, efter his pa.rents had
taught him language through ﬁnger spelling. He went through the
12th grade in 5% years of school. He entered Gallaudet College over
here at less than 15 years of age and has done graduate Work at the

University of Iﬂm_ms since then.

And there is another instance in which & girl learned la,nguege
through it being written for her, a girl by the name of Helen Heckmen.
e her autobiography, also entltlod CY Life Transformed.”
Thet as pubhshed in 1928 by the Maemillan Co.

‘Now the one instance in which classroom adaptation of dramatiza-
tion of language has been effective was performed about 1927 by a

dent at Teachers College, Columbia University, by the
en Thompson, under the sponsorship of Prof. Arthur
stingly enough we have a member on this panel, Dr.
Yale Croutel who turned out the mimeographed ; copies for that excel—
lent piece of resea.rch Dr. Gates gave me aﬁl the remaining copies he
had left.. This is book No, 37. T do not know exectl;lr1 how many

I_t]:unk Mr., Crouter szud about' 40. They are not

all as large as this.

This book is profusely illustrated so that the child could get the
idea of what they were talking about. That is the type of thing
that we 'do not have in our schools today. You can imagine the
problem in trying to provide the necessary number of books When
you have some 37 or 40 of them for the first grade.

The interesting thmg about this experiment was the fact that these
youngsters _after 1 year’s time, when tested against a group of young-
sters receiving instruction through the norma% processes, or the usual
processes, ranked from 70 to 260 percent above the other childven.
In fact, they ranked practically as well on this test as the hearing
children ranked. That does not mean they had the same vocabulary
as the hearing children; it means their total vocabulary was equal to
the reading vocabulary of a hearing child at the end of the first grade.

If you could do that much with this type of crude material, I think
it is rather evident what could be done if we had had captloned films

where we could get motion, where we could introduce the element of
time, past, preeent and future, and where we could get the necessary
repet1txons It is the repetition that these children need. They
need a language atmosphere if they are to develop & lengua,ge tha.t is
anywhere near comparable to that of the hearing child.

There are other devices that you would use—I see my time is ehp-_

ping away. I think this experiment needs to be set up in such a way
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that we can utilize & number of schools for research purposes that will
test out this material, that will help determine how many years of
special instruction you need before you can convert to traditional
materials and that would have suggestions for revision 8o that the
material could be revised and t.hen d.lstnbuted to the schools through
the captioned films services.

In closing, I would-like to say that there is nothmgh particularly
new abouf this, teachers have dramatized language for years.  The
trouble has been that- they have not had sufficient material, sufficient
dramatization, sufficient.repetition, or an adequately selective vocabu—
larv for the purpose.

So I wouﬁ recommend this o you in the words of John J. Liee, whe
was head of the Specigl Fdueation and Rehabilitation Services at
Wayne University, Detroit, wheti he said that he thought this type
of_an approach would do more for the advancement of the educafion
of the deaf than anything thatlias been done in-the last 50 yeass.

Senator PrLy. Tganh you, Dr. Wooden. I wonder if you would
like to have & sample ﬁage of that book reproduced for the record?

Dr. Woopex. I shall be happy to do that.

Senator Pern. If you would lend us the book in the course of the
testimony we can have a copy of one page, and then introduceit-into
the record to illustrate the points that you are making.

Senator Muskie, do you have any questions?

Senator Muskie. Will one page be sufficient? s

Dr. Woopex. You can have as many as you want.

Sendator PeLr. I thought one page would show what you are dnvmg
at. Maybe we should have more. Why don’t you select three or
four sample pages that you think would be most helpful and we will
have that reproduced: for the record. % -

Dr. WoobEn. Fine. '

(The sample pages referred to follow:)

B7760——02-——§



30 CAPTIONED FIUMS 'FOR THE DEAF

Paragraph -nni.ng I.

= _ w._ @ g; °‘*

Children 1ih to reu.r! t.hen. -

It is dark.

Children wash thelr bands with it.

Children walk over it.

It has two feet.

Zo-yo
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"Here is ten cants to buy breed", said the mother.
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The girl went to the store.

"I want to buy a loaf of bread”, she said.
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Write your name hare

Write "city" under the pictére of & city street,
Write fcountry” under the picture of a cowntry road.
Color the policemsn dark bluve,
s Color the leaves on the tree green.
Color the little chickeds yellow,
- Color the country road bm'aun.
Color tha nutomobile that fa going across the stredt.;
Pit an X on the sutomobiles that are stopping.
Put 2n x on the hen that ie ruming acroes the stredt,
Put sn x on the wagon. ;
Draw & 1ios from ihe horse to the trees
Draw & 1ine undgér.'t.'ha policeman,
Draw lines under two of the cows.
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_Senator Pert. Thank you, Dr. Wooden. .

- (The prepared statement of Dr. Wooden follows:) .

PrEPARED STATEMENT oF HARLEY Z. W0ODEN, AssOCTATE EXECUTIVE SECRETARY,
' CovunciL For ExcEpTioNAL CHILDREN, WasHINGTON, D.C

Honorable members of the Senate committee, gentlemen, it's a privilege to
comment on the captioned-films program for the deaf. Tts merits are well
known, but it possesses at least one important additional potential, which is as
veb unéleveloped-.! 8o T should like to join the others in discussing that potential
with you and the language problems of deaf children that it could help solve.

Broadly speaking, there are two general types of deaf children, One consists
of those who lost their hearing after they had acquired good speech and language.
For the sake of brevity we shall label them as the postlanguage deaf. Their
special problems are confined largely to learning how to rea§ lips, follow group
‘discussions, expand the language they have, and preserve their naturally acquired
speech, Their language and speech are so helpful to them that they funection
more nearly on the level of the hard of hearing than on the lavel of other deaf
‘childrén. By ‘“‘other deaf children,” we mean those who were either born deaf
‘or who lost their hearing before they- acquired good speech and language, = This
second group—whom we shall label as the prelanguage deaf-—is the one to whose
special interests I shall address most of my comments during the next few minutes.

Many a prelanguage deaf child starts school with three major handicaps—
lack of hearing, lack of speech, and lack of language.. The most serious of these,
by far, is the lack of language. An insability to hear and/or to speak constitutes
‘a real deprivation, but it does not: prevent people with such handicaps from
leading happy, successful lives or even from achieving a position in some pro-
fessional areas. However, the person without language of some kind is not only
Eliterate, he is unable to make more than minimum use of the potential intelligence

e POossess. . : o Ea : : it Tl

e prelanguage deaf in our schools gain some skills in the use of language
after long, tedious years of study. At the same time, it is a rare instance in which
they develop a language pattern and vocabulary that in any sense approximates
that of the average hearing child’s. - The resulting deprivation affects them in
various adverse manners, including certain aspects of their intelligence. Research
has found that they do as well as the pestlanguage deaf on performance and non-
language tests of intelligence. Likewise they do well in such concrete areas of
-ability as/that of recognizing relationships, remembering information, and seeing
a logical order in a sequence. However, they possess less ability to elaborate
from given information, to evaluate suitability or adequacy; or to adapt their
knowledge to new or unusual situations. - Scholastically they are 4 or 5 years

‘retarded,  They gcore at lower levels in the social competenocies, possess o higher

incidence of emotional disturbance, and: for the most part they rely on the:post-
language deaf for group leadership. Thus their limitations of language and the
resulting frustrations constitute an educational millgtone around their necks,

In contrast, the hearing child enters school with a vocabulary estimated by
some authorities at more than 20,000 words. When given & book in beginning
reading, his task is lar%:g one of learning to associate printed language with the
-spoken language he already knows. Buf when the prelanguage deaf child is
given such a book, it is for use in developing his first understanding of language.

A normal child’s first language is learned through simultaneously seeing it
dramatized (or illustrated) while hearing it spoken. He does not learn it by
merely hearing it; that is impossible. Our play with him includes a constant
flow of speech about what is taking place. For example, we offer him a rubber
ball and tell him what it.is, we count the fingers on his hand as we touch them
one by one, or we teach him how to identify his ears, nose, and mouth—always
talking to him about what he and we are doing. Thus he learns concrete concepts
through repeatedly seeing them dramatized in connection with speech. At the
same time he acquires concepts of the abstract and other subtleties, of language
by seeing them dramatized in context. For example he gains his concepts of
goodness by generalizing from the multitude of concrete situations in which. an
act by someone, or the faste of & food, or the quality of a material is labeled: as

.being good. = In addition the spoken language environment in which his life is
immersed provides him with the necessary repetitions for rapid mastery of his
mother tongue.. S5 Yolpines P

The prelanguage deaf child, on the contrary, lives in an environment of silence.

He never sees language except when he is in a favorable position to do so; thus
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the repetitions he receives are limited. . Furthermore he is,unable by use of the
single sense of sight, under our present instructional facilities, to acquire more
than a fraction of the language-learning efficiency:that the hearing child develops
by simultaneous use of vision and hearing. Thus the prelanguage deaf child is
forced to live with his deprivations and frustrations, with the resulting losses
both to himself and to society. In my opinion this is all the more unfortunate
because there is arnple evidence that much of the condition is unnecessary.

The Ero,fession has tried various useful language aids over the years te assist
these children to acquire an understanding of vocabulary and proper language
usage, but the benefits have been limited:

ere are three possible media through which the deaf may learn English.
They are: through reading lips; reading the printed page, or reading fingerspelling.
Each has been used inour schools, and each hasits place and relative advantages.
But in searching for the rare instances in which any of these media might have
been used with outstanding success, ons or more examples was found for each.
Interestingly enough the only cornmonelement known to have been employed with
all three was comprehensive dramatization and illustration, very much like that
used in teaching langusge to hearing children. 'The first case was that of a bey,
reliably reported to have been taught thmugh.liprea.din% who achieved the nec-
essary language proficiency to earn a Phi D, degree. he second was of 4 boy
taught by fingerspelling; who entered a special school at 9 years of age, finished
12 grades in 5% 'years, entered a special college at 1ess than 15, and has since done
graduate work at a State university: .The-third case consisted of a group:of
beginning children at & school for the deafswho were taught through the use of a
large number of profusely illustrated mimeographed “books.” = This instruction
was part of a researchiproject conducted by Helen Thompson under theé'sponsor-
ship o Arthur Gates of Columbia University. The experimental group achieved
scores on three types of reading skills that ranged from 70 to 260 percent superior
to the scores of a matehed group of deaf children talight with conventional mate-
rials. On a fourth test, the experimental group’s score was so superior to:the
matched group’s that a percentage figure would be meaningless. =

It probably is not necessary to discuss at tHis time the relative merits of the
above approaches. However, it should be pointed out that the Thompson
approsach a8 a basic medium, if refined and expanded, can be made more adaptable
than the others for language-instruction purposes. That is:‘true; regardless of
possible preschool experience and regardless of the school’s program—whether
manual, oral, or combined. Here is8 where the captioned film program can make
& substantial contribution. It is, therefore, my recommendation that a research
pro]ieog be established, under the auspices of Captioned Films of the U.S. Office
of Education; to include #s'a minimum the following undertakings:

(1) Develop a carefully prepared filmed vocab lary list for prelanguage deaf
children (a) that is based on the most useful words in the child’s everyday com-
munication needs, (b) that anticipates extra special treatment of those kinds of
words with which the' deaf encounter the most difficulty, such as prepositions,
adverbs, and the like, and (c) that is designed to utilize o word in only one con-
notation before introducing it in another, thereby avoiding the confusion caused
by words with multiple: meanings. :

(2) Develop filmed langusge exercises| stories; .content material for other
subject matter; tests, illustrations, and:plans for dramatizations, utilizing the
pre}::ﬁared vocabulary iiat in a graded seguence to assure step-by-step language
mastery. | - i S I s

(3) Select and adapt appropriate equipment and materials for the most effec-
tive presentation of language and other subject matter, including (@) books,
charts, and flash cards; (b) sound film projectors and captioned sound films;
() still-picture projectors and filmstrips, slides, or transparencies to accompany;
and (d) teaching machines with:'Speci._a]m programed materials.

The sonnd p ojectors should be equipped for optional use with loudspeakers
andfor individual he2dphones: The children who could profit are those with a
remnant 6f hearing worth developing as an aid:to lipreading;'and thetnear deaf
who may understand amplified speech but whose loss is too great for receiving
proper opportunities to learn lan rapidly. The use of captioned sound films
could be made very flexible by coordinating the picture, sound, and captions with
one another in any manner desired. They would constitute a great aid in de-
veloping concepts of the past, present, and future tense, including the proper verb
forms in each case, They could incorporate lipreading experience; driils;, and
tests, and they could be used for Fresenting a captioned background picture story
prepardtory to redding the story from a book. ; ;
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. On the other hand the teaching machine could be used for individual language
drill work, for obtaining essential language repetition, for testing skills learned,
and for developing (F'wgi-amgd lessons in new vocabulary and subject matter in
between the need for special materials and the ability to use

conventional materials, [ - &
| (4) Select a cross section of different type schools willing to cooperate on a
carefully administered research project (a) to measure the effectiveness of the

prepared materials, (b) to determine the number of years during which special

materials are needed before language is adequate fo use conventional material,

-and (c¢) to make suggestions for improvements of the materials and the method of

use. : : i
(5) Make such revisions as seem necessary and make the finished product
available through the captioned film service. In elosing my comments on this
proposed captioned film project, I should like to call attention to several facts:
{a) the proposal is based on no strangely new or untried theory but rather on the
means by which hearing children learn language as well as on the only known
means by which prelanguage deaf children-have been spectacularly successful,
(b) it involves nothing drastically new in language instruction—teachers have al-

i waga dramatized as much as they could. It merely provides for greatly increased
ant

improved dramatization, much more repetition, individual self-instruction,
better selection of vocabulary for the first few years, and adaptation of all this for
use with the required equipment; (c) it involves no newlg invested equipment—
minor adaptations of what is on the market will serve the purpose; and (d) the
plan is adaptable to any type school program that is now in existence for the deaf.

.+ It is my honest conviction that the addition of such an undertaking to the
_eaptioned filins program of the U.S. Office of Education would—as one prominent

special educator stated “* * * do more to advance the education of the deaf
child than anything that has been done in thelast 50 years * * * T am happy
to submit it to you for your earnest consideration. -

Senator PeLy, Dr. McClure,

Dr. McCrurs. Mr. Crouter is next.

STATEMENT OF JOHN YALE CROUTER, PRINCIPAL, RHODE ISLAND
 SCHOOL FOR THE DEAF, PROVIDENCE, RI

Senator Prru. Mr. Crouter, it is with particular pleasure that T
welcome you before this subcommittee.

Mr. Crourer, I am very grateful that you saw fit to ask me to
come here, Senator Pell. I am grateful for the opportunity to speak
for this excellent bill which you are recommending. '

I would like briefly to state my background. In response to what
Dr. McClure mentioned, the Crouter family is competing a bit.
I am the third generation teacher of the deaf, too. I can go one better
at the moment. The fourth generation is now at work. '

I am particularly concerned, as time continues, about the future
under modern techniques of automation, if you will, under TV, and
the monitoring systems which practically exclude the profoundly deaf.
Therefore, I sincerely feel that S. 2511 will cause them to be reborn,
if one may so express it, and, in the future, will provide the necessary
steps to bring the profoundly deal youngster into the line. 5
' 'We are having great difficulties as each year goes by in getting
our youngsters into the normal scheme of things under everyday
conditions. With the addition of television to the school processes
and filmstrips with records to assist in the clarification, the deal
child is absolutely excluded. Therefore, if the present bill could' be
expanded to include the audiovisual field, as you suggest, I know the
future of the deaf would be advanced tremendously in a very short
time. ' i,
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‘We have been very much impressed with what has transpired in
the very short time that the present bill has been underway. Our
greatest concern is we cannot get enough.  We realize, as Dr. {Vooden
and Dr. McClure said, that the cost is prohibitive in terms of a
commercial company providing the films. But it is vitally important.
The deaf, and I am not trying to be maudlin, have an extremely
serious problem, particularly if they have been born in that fashion.
Their education requires painstaking, constant repetition with a
terrific strain on the individual and with little help in a great many
cases from the auditory system.

I am very sure that the inclusion of captioned films can make a
tremendous contribution. Captioned films definitely can help in the
fields of history, geography, science, and in fact almost every educa-
tional endeavor., They can be of untold help, too, in the vocational
prog:;g.ms that a great many of our resident schools are now able to

rovide. =~ ' i i
¥ It would seem to me that some of the excellent vocational films
which; for example, are used in the armed services, if they were

roperly captioned, would be opening into new fields for the deaf in the
uture. The possibilities are almost unlimited. There is not any
question in my mind but that it would be a tremendous improvement
over what we have had before. .

Textbooks and films now are coming out with visual aids, records,
and things of that kind which are of great help to hearing children.
If captioned film can be added to that, then the deaf themselves can
be brought into the picture. I can visualize a new introduction to the
classics, which is important for the deaf to master: The things that
the average child picks up at home from hearsay are completely lost
as far as the deaf child is concerned, if the child was born deaf or has
become deaf in the prelanguage age. The situation that can develop
out of the program you are recommending would be of value in
promoting such incidental learning.

There are at present 150 films that would serve to introduce the
classics to the deaf.. One could go on indefinitely and cover every
situation indicating how we might open many fields in a manner
comparable to what has been done for the blind. There just is not
any question about the utility of captioned films.

here is also another very important point which T think is vitally
necessary. This is the development, if you will, of a sense of humor.
People do not realize how terrifically difficult it is for a deaf person
to do so in all its ramifications. To be sure, the pun is the lowest
form of wit, but truthfully for the prelanguage deaf, it may well be
the highest. If we can use the captioned films to the deat with an
appreciation of everything from the works of Charlie Chaplin to
Macbeth, I think we can go a long way toward improving the develop-
ment of a sense of humor in these children.

It gives me great pleasure and a sincere feeling of accomplishment
to add my few words at this time in support of your bill. I know it
cannot go wrong. g

Senator PeLL. Thank you very much, indeed, sir. =

I want to emphasize that the formal statements of you gentlemen
will be printed in the record.

Senator Muskie, do you have any questions?

Senator Muskie. No more questions.

Senator Pern. Thank you, Mr. Crouter.
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(The prepared statement of Mr. Crouter follows):

PREPARED STATEMENT OF JoEN YareE CrouTeBr, PriNcipar, Ruop® IsLAND
Scuwoon ror THE Duar, Provipence, R.I.

I am grateful to Senator Pell for his invitation to appear before this committee
to comment on 8. 2511 concerning the captioned films program for the deaf:

The merits of this program are already beginning to show themselves. With
this in mind, I would like to briefly discuss some possible means of broadening
the experiences of the deaf child through the use of these films,

It is signifieant that the average deaf child has only a little over 10,000 hours
of classroom instruction in his entire school life. = During this time he must learn
speech and lipreading plus all the general information most of us pick up through
casual conversation. : :

Already the use of films and Blmstrips prepared for the hearing child has
widened the deaf ohild’s horizon, but value tot he deaf child of films prepared
for the hearing is lessened by the increasing production of tape recordings or
records to be used with filmstrips. Filmstrips using fanciful approaches to factual
subjects (for example; brownies manipulating blocks to teach arithmetical con-
cepts) are most co usfng to the deaf child. Also, these films are overly dependent
on a teacher’s explanation of each step. It is becoming more and more evident
that captioned filmstrips could greatly improve this situation.

Tt seems pertinent here to point out that'if value of materiaf develo;:{:2 , espe-
cially for the prelanguage deaf child, should be questioned it might stated
that a series language exercise book by Croker, Jones & Pratt produced especially
for deaf children has been in constant use since World War I by many schools
for the deaf.

I should like to point out some possible ways captioned films can broaden the
experiences of a deaf child. : i

n the field of history it takes a Jong time t0 develop language to the point
where the pupil can understand stories. This results in little time for Becoming
acquainted with more than just a few of the major figures of history. Films
currently available in this area could be captioned and thus broaden the child’s
historical background. :

Within the broad aspects of geography (both physical and political, includin
climate, the influence of togagrapl%y, ete.), the judicious use of some commercia.
westerns (either movie or filmed TV programs) is one way the deaf child could
receive a better understanding of the development of our Western States.

‘In the field of science many fine films and filmstrips presently available could
be made much more valuable to the deaf by appropriate captions.

In civies where the average deaf child at difficulty in developing an
understanding of the privileges and responsibilities of citizenship on the national,
local, and State levels, the normal child has a Ereat. advantage for he has heard
numerous discussions on thése subjects before he ever has to cope with makin
out an income tax form or voting. Properly captioned films can be of grea
benefit in developing this important area. ; .

There are a large number of valuable vocational films that if carefully edited
and captioned should open doors to unlimited opportunities. It is well to point
out that unless a deaf child has a reasonable knowledge of various jobs and
whether or not they are possible for a deaf person to handle he will not be able to
make a realistic appraisal of his own capabilities as well as that of the job.

Let us now turn to textbooks. Even simple texts have pitfalls for the pre-
laniua.ge deaf. I'or example; look at the sentences: ‘“‘Bennett was considered a
snake in the grass’” or “Thomas was the fly in the ointment.” A young deaf
Ferson must be taught the significance of such phrases or he will interpret them
iterally. Presently many publishers are furnishing filmstrips (primarily) and
films to accompany texts. If these could be captioned they would be more
valuable to the deaf. :

In reviewing the classics the enjoyment of meeting well-known literary charac-
ters such as Dickens’ Micawber and the men in “Treasure Island” is unklown
to all but'a handful of deaf Eeople. Simplified classics have been published, to
bfi su;ﬁi, but there is a much greater advantage to reading the classics in the
original,

ne who has seen W. C. Fields as Micawber in ““David Copperfield”’ can never
forget him. “Waiting {or something to*turn up” will become meaningful to a
deaf person and renewing acquaintances with Micawber by reading *“David Cop
perfield,” after seeing the film, would be a ‘joy nota task; Captioned films of this
sort can make the reading of a classic a real pleasure instead of a major chore,
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An area of tremendous importance in the all-round development of prelanguage
deaf, and at the same time one of the most difficult, is the development of a sense
of humor., A sense of humor iga ‘‘saving grace” for all handieapped persons and
certainly no less for the deaf. However, we must realize that although a pun
has been called the lowest form of wit, for the prelanguage deaf it may well be

the highest, since it involves extensive knowledge of word ineanings and subtleties
of their use: 3

Without going into a catalog of the forms of humor it may be stated that two
of the films, already made available through the captioned filins program, illus-
trate the vastly different of humor. éha.rlie Chaplin and "“Mr. Hulot’s Holi=
day” have already shown that well-done comimercial filins can be adapted for this
real need, albeitone which r ight not appear at first sight to be essential.

It is my sincere-belief that the growth of the -captioned films program of the
U.8. Office of Education is of utmost importance to the overall education of the
deaf and will résult'in great educational contributions to the present generation.

Senator Perr. Dr. MeClure.

Dr. McCLure. Next we have Mr. Ambrosen from the Maryland
School for the Deaf.

STATEMENT OF LLOYD A, AMBROSEN, SUPERINTENDENT,
MARYLAND SCHOOL FOR THE DEAF, AND VICE PRESIDENT,

'CONVENTION OF AMERICAN INSTRUCTORS OF THE DEAF,
FREDERICK, MD.

Mr. AmeroseN, I am supéerintendent of the Maryland School for
the Deaf in Frederick and vice president of the Convention of Ameri-
can Instructors of the Deaf. - -

The testimony this morning has been devoted largely to childre
and teaching problems and learning problems. The approach I want
to take concerns the adult deaf.

In 1047-48 the National Association of the Deaf, which is a national
organization of deaf people, approached the American City Bureau
in Chicago to plan a campaign for raising $1 million or several million.
The American City Bureau:is just completing a program of raising: $3.
million for Illinois University in Chicago: Theysaid they would study
the problems of the deaf for 1 year and then launch the campaign.

After the American City Bureau studied the problems of the deaf
for 1 year; the program to raise $3 million or several million nationally
was dropped. = One of the chief reasons that this programifer raising
money for the National Association of the Dea}) was dropped was
because the American City Bureau said there was no appeal. = They
felt that deafness did not have any appeal such as that of blindness
or some erip  ling disease: They just felt'they wo 1d not be successful
and therefore they did not want to have the campaign. i

Magazine writers often visit schools and at the close of the visit
they often ask, ‘Where is the punch line?” They do not see if. - .

One of the unique features of the educators of the deafin residential
schools especia. y is the fact that we not only have our associations
with teachers and with deaf children, but we also associate with deaf
adults. We are interested in  their rehabilitation probleins; their
marriages, their children; how they are getting along. We go to their
c¢onventions and we associnte with the adult deaf people a great deal.

We are always impressed by the general lack of common experi-
ences or the genera.{J lack of common knowledge. Th‘%y are not
exposed to the same knowledge that we are exposed to. We listen. to
the radio, we listen to television, and our associations are-different.
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The emphasis today is on sound. You have a v’eiﬂr good example
of that this morning. Sitting in the front row is Alexander Fleish-
man, a deaf man, who is president of the National Association for

Jewish Deaf and the American Athletic Association of the Deaf. Mr.
Fleishman is deaf and is sitting there and has to have an interpreter.

He cannot read lips from the back of our heads, and he is too far away
from the members of the committee to read their lips.

All of this is being interpreted to him and, to additionally impress
you with the importance of sound, I suggest that on the next news
special on NBC or CBS or ABC, in listenitig to any of the gentlemen

such as Mr, Cronkite and others that have these news specials, watch

the program and fturn the sound off. Then as you sit there analyze
your frustrations. I feel sure you will find your understanding of the
program would be quite impaired. )

Senator Muskie. I am sure, Mr. Ambrosen, there are no people
more impressed with the importance of sound than the Members of
the Senate. i

Mr. Amsrosen. My next point was that no salesman' could sell
his product if he were ambiguous in his presentation, and I am sure
no Senator would be elected o1 ambiguous presentations.

So therefore, what we ne d very clearly:are unambiguous, clenrly
understood programs, films, et cetern,

Another area that I would ask you to consider—I am sure that
you are concerned in your other duties with automation and its
effect on the employment picture, and what it is doing to the employees
of America, the workers of America who are being displaced, laid off
from work through no fault of their own. The Federal Government
is embarking on a program of retraming displaced persons from
industry so that they can find jobg in other work. This is affectin
the deaf very early in the automation of industry and the deaf Wiﬁ
need retraining, too. If retraining professional films are available
the task will be easier, and an added bonus—we are always lookn g
for bonuses—would be their great value in schools for the deaf. So
they could'be used everywhere. ;

My last, point 18 that at every Government level we are concerned
with the so-called senior citizen, the aging population. Many people
in: the'aging poptlation lose their hearing because of the aging process.
Many of them find it very difficdlt to-adjust to & hearing aid. ' They
reject theni because of cosmetic reasons, or when they do learn to
use them they use them at limited times,

So another added bonus would be the availability of :captioned
films for senior citizens who have lost their hearing. I do not thirk
it is too much to ask that these new special programs and cultural
programs be captioned when present d as reprint showings, on
television. © Although it costs money, why wouldn’t it be possible to
have captions added? The sound 'trac{t would not be impaired.
Then a person with hearing would enjoy the program and the deaf,
and the senior citizens who have lost their hearing, would enjoy
the programs because they could read the captions. This is a tre-
mendously exciting poissib'_&by. As it is almost next to impossible to
appeal to people to raise money and give it out of their own pockets,
we ask that the Congress provide the funds for this program. Thank
you.

Senator Pern. Thank you very much, indeed, Mr. Ambrosen.
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Do you have any questions; Senator Muskie? A
Senator Muskie. I have no questions, Mr. Chairman.
(The prepared statement of Mr. Ambrosen follows:)

PREPARED STATEMENT 0F LLOYD A. AMBROSEN, VIcH PRESIDENT, CONVENTION
OF AMERICAN INSTRUCTORS OF THE DBaF, AND SUPERINTENDENT, ‘MARYLAND
Scuoon For T7HE DEar, FrREDERICE, MbD, - 3.

Senator Pell and members of the subcommittee, thank' you for your gracious
invitation to offer testimony pertaining to captioned filmsfor the deaf. - As vice
president of the American ﬁlst.ructors oft, he Deaf, I:am authorized to offerinfor=
mation in support of greatly increased efforts to enlarge the program started a
few years asgo to provide educational, cultural, and entertamnment films with
captions, enabling deaf citizens to not only see films, but to also understand ther:’
In effect captioned films eliminate & common criticism in'that filins today have
doubtfulivalue because ali the language of the films is on sound tracks which; of
course, has no meaning for the deaf. i . _ e s

It is paradoxical to note the rapid technological advatces that have combined
electronics and film techniques which provide excellent visual and auditory
cultural, educational, and entertainment that is extremely Beneficinl fo ‘the
majority of the people of the United States, and of very doubitful«yaliie to a
substantial minority of persons shut off from the world of sound béctiuge of
deafness. In order to meet this problem captioned films will enable the deaf
once again to learn from educational films, advance their cultural needs, and
receive appropriate entertainment all with understandin% Captions bypass
the sound tracks and capitalize on the visual skills which the deaf develop to a
very high degree.

ur high cultural and educational attainments have come about in large part,
through the vast progress we have made in the communication fields. e now
ask that these benefits be materially increased and made available to thousands
of deaf people, of all ages, in all of the United States. :

Byron B. Burnes, president of the National Association of the Deaf, once wrote
a paper under the heading of ““Who Are the Deaf?”’ Permit me to quote from this
article, and enter the article in its entirety as an appendix to my remarks. ‘‘Most
of the deaf are able to react to one sound or another, but the sounds they hear are
not the same as normally hearing persons hear them * * * Because of flaws
in his auditory equipment, the deaf person is not able to translate spoken sound
into an understandable flow of communication.” Dr. Burnes is deaf, a graduate
of Gallaudet College, possesses an earned master’s degree in mathematics from the
gnil\(relrsity of Chicago, and is a teacher in the California School for the Deaf at

erkeley. { ! f ey

There are several areas for the adult deaf that need attention and their solu-
tions, in many cases this may be the only solution, could be greatly enhanced and
more easily attained through films that provide not only visual action, but also
understanding through the printed word. No salesman, no matter how skillful
he may be, can hope to sell his product through an ambiguous presentation.
Captioned film removes the ambiguities and presents clearly unambiguous
thoughts and ideas. _ _ ' '

In the field of employment, automation is proving to be as complex a problem
for the wage earner who is deaf, as it is for the worker whose hearing is unimpaired.
The deaf employee faces the same problem in that he must find a new job or be
retrained for another occupation. = No doubt the new Federal program providing
retraining opportunities will utilize vocational training films now in existence
and those that will be made in the future. These very same films are of doubtful
value to the deaf, but on the other hand they can be made extremely effective
with captions. Our Nation can ill afford to have a large gr.oup of people unem-
ployable because technological advances in industry render them unemployed
through no fault of their own. If eaptioned vocational training films would be
available, an added bonus would be their value to schools for the deaf responsible
for educating our deaf children. Approximately 500 young men and women
%radua.te from our schools-each year and enter a very competitive labor market.

n the past, on at least two occasions, legislation in the Congress was offered to
give the deaf an additional exemption on their Federal income tax reports. The
greatest opposition to this legislation came from the deaf themselves. They
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want to carry their fair share of the load, and captioned voeational training
films will, in a large way, help continue this admirable attitude through high
emlplo ent of the deaf.

n the area of family life and adjustment, there is a need that is not being met
except in a very few locations. Counseling for families with deaf parents is
avaa.b‘ le only where there may be a clergyman present who specializes in work
with the deaf, a special psychiatric center in New York City which treats problems
on an outpatient basis only, the counseling center at Gallaudet College here in
Washington, D.C., and a few professional personnel who by chance became inter-
ested in the deaf but who need interpreters on hand when aasist.in\? deaf peo]ile.
I need not point out to you the complexities of providing counsel for family life
and adjustment for the regular population and how dependent this is on an easy
and natural means of communication, the lifeblood so to speak, of the counselor.
I would point out however, that this is an e.lmost'-impossibic situation when
the means of communication is laborious, ambiguous, or compromised by the
Eresence of a third party to serve as an interpreter, There is a vast and fertile

eld in the area of family life around adjustment situations that can be met
through captioned films apart from counseling in a broad general way. ‘We can
provide greater understanding for the deaf of the life immediately about them
such as civic and community responsibilities, how and i what public agencies
are ready to serve them when needed; public education problems as it relates to
their hearing children attending schools in their communities; driver-training
education with reference to new motor laws, safer driving techniques, illustrated
causes of accidents, traffic problems brought about by urban growth, expressway
driving, ete.; purchasing a home, banking services, our Federal Government and
its numerous functions and services, and many, many other areas that contribute
to knowledge and information for more effective eitizenship.

In the field of television we see special news programs on current issues such
as the water shortage, population explosion,” Cuba, underdeveloped countries of
= the world, Algeria, and many others. Except for receiving the general scenes

that unfold before them, the cannot hear the all-important commentary that
: accompany these specia.f events. Since they are almost always on films, it would
be & simple matter to provide captions for repeat showings that would enable the
deaf to receive the same benefits as the regular public. is one simple technique
would to much to alleviate the isolation of deafness.

Showings of films with c&lptiona can be presented to large groups of deaf people
assembled at meetings at clubs for the deaf in our large cities, conventions, and
] in schools for the deaf, In order to reach many who live in rural communities

and even those in large cities where club showin? are practiced, television offers
an excellent method to reach a large majority of deaf people in the United States.
Television networks and local stations can present captioned educational and
special events films as a public service. When such films are shown it is impor-
tant to remember that the sound track is not impaired. This means that such
films would not necessarily have limited appeal because the sound would accom-
pany the films as well as the captions eénd thereby be of interest to all people,
reﬁardlesa- of whether or not they have perfect hearing or are deaf. The accessi-
bility of television presents a most exciting and effective means of reaching the
deaf re%a.rdlesa of where they live.

Another segment of the population I have not' mentioned, but who are never-
o theless important, are the aged people who acquire their hearing losses in later
% years. At all governmental levels increasinf attention is being iven to the so-
called senior citizens who are making up an increasingly larger percentage of our
go ulation. Many of them, who lose their hearing in old age; find it extremely
ifficult to adjust to loss of hearing and find it even ntore distressing to learn how
Y - to use a hearing aid. Foreign films used to attract the deaf and were of interesy
to those who lose their hearing in old m because the subtitles in English were
added for showing in this country. Today the sound tracks of foreign language

films have English “dubbed in” with subtitles eliminated.

We live in 2 world where more and more emphasis is being placed -on sound as
a means of getting ideas across to the public. In order for you to grasp what it
means to live 'without hearing; T ask that you conduct a simple experiment. The
next time you watch a television program of any kind, turn the volume off and
analyze your frusStrations as you watch the program unfold. Evaluate your
understanding and I am sure you will find it somewhat impaired.

Thank you.
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- Wao Agp 7m DEAr?

- (By Byron B: Burnes !)

If one were to ask you, “What is a deaf person?”” your answer might be that it
was one who was not able to hear. That would seem to be the logical answer
and it would seem to be sufficient, but with the numerous studies of the deaf and
deafness which have been made by educators, otologists, and psychologigts, people
have been tempted to devise numerous classifications of the deaf and to establish
various degrees of deafness. Differing theories have created confusion for public
agencies working for the deaf; they have caused controversy in educational circles;
and they have led to misunderstanding in the minds of J)a.rents of deaf children.

The organized educators of the deaf long ago recognized the need for an accurate
description of the deaf and in 1937 a committee on nomenclature representing the
Conference of Executives of American Schools for the Deaf devised a set of defini-
tions which the committee members considered simple, clear-cut, scientifically
correct, and readily understood by the laymen. The definitions separated all
pext:s(l}lns with impaired hearing into two. classes, the deaf and the hard of hearing,
as follow:

(1) The deaf: Those in whom the sense of hearing is nonfunctional for the
ordinary purposes of life. : '

This general group is made up of two distinct classes based entirely on the time
of the loss of hearing: = Vel

(a) The congenitally deaf-—those who were born deaf. :

(b) The adventitiously deaf~—those who were born with normal hearing but
ién whom the sense of hearing became nonfunetional later through illness or acei-

ent. : ; fir ;

(2) The hard of hearing: Those in whom the sense of hearing, although defec-
tive, is functional with or without a hearing aid. il el -

These definitions have been generally- accepted by educators and by the deaf,
themselves, as correctly eclassifying the deaf and the hard of hearing. They
logically deseribe the deaf as those who have no usable hearing. Those who do
possess usable hearing, even through amplification may be necessary, are classified
as the hard of hearing. Thus are the two groups distinctly separated, as they
should be separated, for each group must contend with problems peculiar to itself.

After 20 years these definitions have not become solidly established in the minds
of the general public. People continually refer to a hard of hearing person as
“deaf,'” and it seems that they always will. One reason for this confusion of the
hard of hearing with the deaf is due to the fact that we have no simple term to
deseribe the hard of hearing. The word ‘‘deaf’’ is handier. Newspaper headline
writers prefer the word “deaf’’ because it fits their space, and we see it almost
every day introducing items in the papers which report on the activities of persons
who are not deaf, but hard of hearing. We need a simple four-letter word to
describe the hard of hearing adequately as the word ‘‘deaf’’ deseribes the deaf.
Until we find such a word, if ever, the: confusion will continue. . - Lo ;

Certain manufacturers of he‘aring aids have contributed to the confusion by
continually using the word “deaf’” in-their advertising, indicating that their
amplifying devices will engble the deaf to hear again. nly the hard of hearing
can benefit from the use of a hearing aid, but the expression ‘“‘hard of hearing”
does not fit well in a one-column advertisement in the newspaper. e

The National Association of the Deaf has appealed to these manufacturers to
refrain from using the word ‘“‘deaf,” and a few have complied, but others simply
point out that the dictionary describes any person with impaired hearing as deaf,
and indeed it does. : In most dictionaries we find the word ‘‘deaf’’ defined as
“lacking or deprived of the sense of hearing, wholly or partially ; unable to hear.”
We have asked publishers of dictionaries to change their definitions, but thus far
they have only promised to review the subject. il .

The extensive advertising of hearing aids in recent years has worked & hardship
on many of the deaf. Applicants for employment have been turned away by
employers with the advice that they learn to use a hearing aid. Salesmen of
hearing aids have sold their product to parents of deaf children, giving them the
impression that if the children will wear the devices they will develop the ability
to hear. e TES -

1 From an address given at the New York School for the Deaf at White Plains, N.Y. Reprinted from
the American Annals of the Deaf, vol. 103, No. 2, March 1958 \ : =

Byron B, Burnes, M. A, Litt. D,, is an instructor in the California School for the Deaf, Hels president
of the National Association of the Deaf and editor of the Silent Worker, & natlonal magazine for the deal.
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It is well to note that the definitions do not include such expressions as ‘‘deaf-
mute,” “deaf and dumb,’ or “mute.” These terms have long since been con-
gidered obsolete. ; T4a : _

One group of educators interested solely in the teaching of speech to the deaf
did not agree to the definitions distinguishing the deaf and hard of hearing. They
preferred to classify the deaf and the hard of hearing according to their ability
to speak and use the English language. They classed the deaf as those who were
born without hearing or who lost their sense of hearing before they acquired the
ability to speak. In their-opinion, the hard of hearing are those who are deprived
of their sense of hearin% or part of it, after they have developed speech and
language skills, It is difficult to believe that anyone would determine the degree
of hearing on the basis of one’s ability to speak or to use language, but these
theories have been widely publicized and they have created further confusion,
especially among parents of deaf children.

: e opinion of most leading authorities is that the word “‘deaf’” means what it
says. ltindicates the complete lack of usable hearing. There is nosuch condition
as partial deafness, or total deafness, or profound deafness. If a person is not
deaf, he is hard of ﬁefarin . The deaf person has no usable hearing; be cannot be
taught to hear, or trained to hear. : .

¢ expression, ‘‘usable hearing,” has appeared a few times in this paper because
the layman may not realize that there is a type of so-called hearinga}»msesa_ed by
almost all of the deaf which is not usable hearing. Most of the deaf are able to
react to one sound or another, but the sounds they hear are not the same as
normally hearing persons hear them. Many deaf’ people can hear the human
voice, but it does not have the same sound the hearing person recognizes as a
human voice. Because of flaws in his auditory equipment, the deaf person is
not able to translate spoken sound into an understandable flow of communication.
With practice he may develop the ability to recognize such common expressions
as ““Good morning,”’ *“How are you?” but his ability to do this does not indicate
that he hears these expressions properly. This kind of hearing is not recognized
as usable hearing. It is merely the ability to react to sound and it is not even
known as hearing. It is called sound perception. Some deaf persons have a high
degree of soungﬂ}:emecrﬁon but still no usable hearing. For all the purposes of
life, they are deaf, and they are classed as deaf, not, hard of hearing.

With medical advances reducing the severity and t‘r«aqus_mcj)-l:l of such diseases as
meningitis and scarlet fever which often result in loss of hearing through destrue-
tion of the auditory nerve, the adventitiously deaf are becoming fewer in number.

The deaf naturally fall into a number of different classifications, the same as
hearing ns do. In fact, they are no different from hearing persons, except
for the difficulty in communication with hearing persons imposed upon them by
their deafness. Among the deaf, the same as among any other group of people,
you will fird extroverts and introverts; you will find college graduates and a few
illiterates; you will find the rich and the poor, the ‘and the bad.

The great majority of the deaf are educated in State schools for the deaf, ard
most of those who go on to college attend Gallaudet College. In their school they
learn the sign language almost before they learn anything else, and they use it as a
means of communication among themselves the remainder of their lives. Out of
school they naturally fall in with deaf persons like themselves with whom' they
can communicate freely. They maintain their own social clubs, their sport
groups, churches, and State and National organizations. Most of them are well-
adjusted, average citizens, reguiarly employed, owning their own homes and driv-
ing their own automobiles. Those who are comfortably situated do not need help
from rehabilitation or welfare or employment agencies, but there are many
among the deaf who do need help, the same as many will be found in any cross
section of American people who need assistance of one kind or another. Their
greatest handicap is in the fact that the public in general is not acquainted with
their capabilities and employers frequertly deny them opportunities to work
when they are fully capable of doing the kind of work for which they ?E(fly.
Rehabilitation personnel and all others engaged in publie service interested in
helping the deaf can do them the greatest good by helping educate employers as
to the facts about the deaf. :

Like any other group, the deaf have their emotionally disturbed and their less
gifted individuals, and these are the ones most in need of help. There are deaf
persons who do not fit into their employment situations because of maladjust-
ments in personality. They need counsel, guidance, and probably therapy.

The young deaf graduates of a school for the deaf usually are able to find their
places in industry. Most of them have received adequate training in the funda-



44 CAPTIONED FILMS FOR THE DEAF

mentals of a trade and they have developed good working habits. ‘Many of them
find work for themselves, others make contacts through members of the vocational
staffs at their schools, and still others are assisted by employment agencies and
rehabilitation offices. Once they find an employer who has no prejudices against
a handicapped worker, they are ready to face the future on their own. Some of
them are able to communicate with their employers and fellow workmen by speech
and lipreading, and those who find oral communication inadequate have little
trouble with written communication.

Those who do not graduate from school present more of a problem, and the less
education they have acquired, the greater is the problem. Deaf children in school
are like all other children. They range from the gifted to the “backward”
learners. Those who do not make good progress in school find it difficult to
compete with a hearing world. The slow learners who ]gosaess normal hearing
have an advantage over the slow learning deaf children for they are at least able to
communicate. ’Iﬁm deaf children have failed fo dcvelof a sufficient command of the
English language to make communication easy for them. They do not under-
stand written instruction but still many of them are or can become highly skilled
workmen, once they have been given a start. Employers or supervisors or fore-
men will find it necessary to give these deaf workers instructions mostly by means
of gestures.. On many occasions foremen have learned the sign language and
those who have thus developed some understanding of their deaf workmen highly
praise the performance of the deaf. g gl ! o M

Senator Peru. It would give me particular pleasure to introduce
the next witness, but perhaps it would be more a‘p})ropria,te if Senator
Muskie welcomed him, Mr. Joseph P. Youngs, Jr., superintendent,
Governor Baxter State School for the Deaf, Portland, Maine.

Senator Muskie. T am very proud to welcome Mr. Youngs to the
hearing this morning. I think the record ought to show that both
he and I are very proud of the Baxter State School for the Deaf
which was made possible by reason of -the generosity .of former
Governor Baxter, of Maine, who is still alive, a man of financial means
and magnificent generosity. =~

Among other things he gave to the State a State park with 52
mountain peaks. I do not think there are many men in the history
of the country who gave 52 mountain peaks to the State. He gave
this island olgthe_ coast of Maine for the building of the school for
the deaf. Then in addition, he gave upward of $1 million to finance
the construction. The school was built during my administration
as Governor of Maine. = So although Governor Baxter was a Republi-
can and T a Democrat, I count tﬁat as one of the highlights of my
administration, one which was made possible by his generosity.

Mr. Youngs has come to the school since I left. I know of his
reputation and his ability and am glad to have the opportunity to
welcome him this morning serving as superintendent of the school
and speaking for the people of Maine. =

STATEMENT OF JOSEPH P; YOUNGS, JR., SUPERINTENDENT,
GOVERNOR BAXTER STATE SCHOOL FOR THE DEAF, PORT-
LAND, MAINE : . _

Mr. Younas. Thank you, Senator Muskie, for those very nice
words, and thank you, Senator Pell, for the invitation to come to
Washington to speak on behalf of the captioned films program.

I onld like to mention before continuing that Governor Baxter
still maintains a very active interest in our school for the deaf in
Maine and also in the activities going on there. Not too long ago
I told him I would be coming down here to speak on behalf of tEe
captioned films program, and he raised the question as to whether or
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not we were already showing films, educational films, in our school
for the deaf. : '

Senator PerL. I might say the invitation really came from Senator
Muskie.

Mr. Younags. Yes. Thank you.

He asked if we were showing educational films in our school for
the deaf already. It i$ true that there is a tremendous amount of
educational material on film that can be used in public schools.
Those of us working with deaf children try very hard to use these
films as best we can 1n our schools for the deaf. ‘

What transpires, though, is a very long and arduous task of prep-
aration. The teacher must preview these films several times to take
notes, then she has to prepare her class for the showing by telling
them what they are going to see. While it is being shown quite often
the teacher must stand by the screen under a spotlight in a darkened
room and interpret what is going on, thus distracting the viewers who
have to look at the picture, cast a side glance at the interpreter, and
than back at the picture. . ' ;

After it is over, the teacher has to rehearse what they have seen
to make sure they have understood the major points. This drags out
an instruction so that it is hardly worthwhile, and many times teachers
will start off with a bang, getting films for the classes, and then realize
how little actually comes out of it and they stop and go back to their
tried and true methods of blackboard, textbooks, and other visual aids.

Along these lines at schools for the deaf, teachers have made what
we call visual aids long before the term ‘‘visual aids” became popular
in educational circles. Out of necessity to prepare language charts,
picture charts, experience charts, they cut pictures from magazines
and newspapers to illustrate each word in the vocabulary. any of
these words cannot be illustrated by pictures. The verb “to be” and
many other abstract words cannot be illustrated, but they do their
best. Because teachers meet so many stumbling blocks in our lan-
guage, the language teaching fell short. '

Because of these obstacles, the teaching of the abstract, as was
brought out by the panel, is one of the big obstacles in teaching deal
children. Deaf children visualize and get the concept of things they
can see and perceive by touch or action.

I would like to illustrate a story one teacher told about the teaching
of Paul Revere to her class. In reading comprehension, a paragraph
deseribed Paul Revere’s famous midnight ride warning the colonists
that the redcoats were coming, and how he made the ride through
the streets of Boston. After it was over, through a question and
answer period the teacher wanted to find out what the class could
comprehend. She asked Johnny or Billy, “What was the story
about?” The answer was, “the story was about a man who had on
a red coat.” This was the concrefe thing the child could visualize
from the paragraph. The abstract concept of warning someone that
someone was coming could not be deseribed, it could not be perceived.

I believe that in using captioned films to elaborate on the text,
teachers of the deaf will have a wonderful opportunity to develop
the teaching of reading along with the teaching presentation of new
information in social studies, in general science lessons, and so forth.

Many, many efforts have been made to employ the use of films in
the teaching of reading. We, in working with the deaf, try to adapt
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these films to teach our deaf toread. T believe that Gallaudet College
is currently using films in its reading program. 1 recall that when I
was at Gallaudet College we used the Harvard reading film series to
help develop better reading comprehension among.our students. T
think that through these captioned films programs we have a wonder-
ful opportunity for exploring the possibilities of teaching the deaf
child to read and to comprehend what he reads. ' T do not think that
members of the panel will dispute me if I state that I feel that reading
comprehension 1s of greater importance [ierhaps than language
expression, because it 18 through receptive language that the deaf
chﬁd begins to learn to express himself. o A

If he can receive this language and understand this language, then
he will be able to express himself better. The teacher of the deaf
has the greatest difficulty in the teaching of reading. She may
teach a cﬁ;'rld to express himself in simple one or two word sentences,
but she cannot expect him to understand a general paragraph of a
textbook unless he or she has a strong foundation language.

An interesting point that I think should be brought out at this

anel is that the population in our schools for the deaf in the United
States is changing, The population that we had in schools for the
deaf as recently as 20 years ago was made up of children who had lost
their hearing after they had learned Iunﬁ'uage. Today this has
changed and the largest percentage of the children in our schools for
the deaf are children who were born deaf. This, of course, I think, is
understandable because of the advances in medical science in the past
20 years or so. Children who have diseases resulting in hearing loss
are saved from the side effects because of wonder drugs. Children
who formerly would have died in infancy are saved because of these
wonder drugs. Therefore, we have many more children born with
the handicaps of deafness now coming to our schools for the deaf.

Along with this type of pupil we have found that we have children
with additional handicaps, handicaps sometimes difficult to define.
More and more our experts are learning how to define these handicaps.

Just for the sake of generalization, we have children who are emo-
tionally disturbed, for want of a better word. We have children who
have language disorders which are greater than their hearing loss, or
which are superimposed on their hearing loss. :

Then of course we have a large population of deaf children who
have definite retardation—not educational retardation but definite
mental retardation—thus compounding the original task of teachin
deaf children, and making the need for additional visual aids materi
greater and greater in our classrooms.

I think this point cannot be emphasized too strongly. Because in
years to come 1 visualize this ﬁopulation change getting more critical
rather than less critical, and the need for this visual aid type of pro-
gram more important, I bave one more point I would like to bring.
out, dealing with the training of teachers. For 10 years I was on the
staff at Gallaudet College and directly involved in the teacher train-
ing program at Gallaudet College. I can now visualize what an
important part is played by the use of films in a teacher training
program. _ : 4 ! =

or example, it was one of my responsibilities to take the teachers
on educational tours, to visit other schools for the deaf, in order to
become acquainted with the methods and techniques that prevailed
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 in other areas. Omne year I recall taking teachers to the American
School for the Deaf in West Hartford, Conn., to view and observe the
excellent school and preschool program, and then on to the Clarke
School in Northampton, Mass., and to the Horace Mann School in
Boston, one of our oldest and one of our larger day schools in the
United States, down to the Rhode Island School in Providence, and
on to the Lexington School in New York, and to New Jersey schools to
visit the excellent vocational educational %r'ogram, and back to
Washington and out to Maryland, West Virginia, Virginia, and
North Carolina. _ :

Perhaps by using films we could bring these schools to the teacher
training centers, not only at Gallaudet College but to all other teacher
training centers, S

Also we have in our profession a group of teachers whom we like
to clasify as master teachers. These are ladies and some gentlemen
who have special techniques or special qualities which give them a
certain empathy with the deaf child not found in the average teacher
of the deal. These teachers try to pass on their techniques and skills
to other teachers in order to perpetuate them. By using films we
might preserve some of these techniques and skills and pass them on
to trainees in our training centers. ' :

I recall my days at Gallaudet. I took training under two very
highly respected ladies, Miss Josephine Quinn, who was the super-
vising teacher at the school for the deaf, and Dr. Elizabeth Peet, both
of whom had tremendous skills and abilities to pass on to their students
in the training department. It is sad that we have not preserved
these on film to pass on to future generations.

This is a wonderful opportunity facing us, preserving these skills
and passing them on to teacher trainees.

I can visualize in the teacher training program wonderful inter-
national implications. Many, many people training to become teach-
ers of the deaf come to the United States and want to get as much as
possible out of their short stay in this country before returning to
their own countries. And I can see where the exchange of
among our teacher training centers, not only in this country but
perhaps in other countries, might be something that would broaden
the understanding of the teaching techniques in the various countries.

I would like to reaffirm the comments made by the members of our

anel and also to express the appreciation of the deaf people of Maine
or the opportunity to come here and to speak on behalf of a program
that has already given them many, many happy hours. Thank you
very much. ~h '

Senator PeLL. Senator Muskie, do you have any general comments
or questions?

Senator Muskie. I would like to thank Mr. Youngs and all the
members of the panel for their excellent statements. As always I
have learned something.

I would like to em]_:;ghasize one impression, one strong impression,
that I have learned from the testimony this morning-—that we are
desling not only with an invisible handicap, in th€ words of Dr.
MecClure, but we are also dealing with a problem w ith invisible ends.
We do not really know, we cannot appreciate, the loss of resources
and loss of happiness of human beings, the loss of opportunity that is
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the result of this handicap. If this program can prevent some of it,
it would be worth while. e :

I also would like to place emphasis on the fact that this new pro-

ram, S. 2511, offers exciting possibilities beyond the captioned films.

e do not know what. 'This is also invisible. This is an area for
experimentation and research, imagination, initiative to develop the
possibilities of educational films ?or_ the development of teaching
techniques, development of skills in giving opportunities for learnin
to deaf children that we do not know of yet, cannot fully understa,ng
or appreciate yet. _

And to me, important as the captioned films program is, all that an

pansion of that program requires is more money. This is some-
thing that is relatively easy for the Congress to provide. But this
other aspect of the program, S. 2511, the authorization of research, the
actual production of films, is an exciting part, and I would hope in the
long run the most productive part. . s 0 g

Senator PerL. I would like to ask one general question, if I could,
of whomever would care to answer it.

Can you define what sort of jobs people who are born totally deaf or
are totally deaf can perform? The point was raised earlier that with
the decline of the number of blue-collar jobs compared with the white-
collar jobs, fewer jobs were open to deaf people.

I wonder if you would sketch out the kind of jobs the deaf people
can perform and are now performing with relative ease and skill and
ability. I know Mr, Williams of the Lockheed Corp. is going to sub-
mit a statement cconcerning the program they have with a particular
effort to get people to work there. I thought some of you might have
some ideas of the kind of work deaf people can perform.

Dr. McCrure. In general, over the country different schools for the
deaf have found that certain trades or occupations that they teach in
their schools are successful in their own area. But one of the most
popular and successful pursuits for a deaf person to follow, not neces-
sarily the college student but the good average student, is the printing
trade. Almost every large city newspaper will have a number of well-
qualified and capable deaf printers, That means pressmen, linotype
operators; photoengravers, and so forth, T ':WOiJl(i’]' say that this is
the bread-and-butter trade of the deaf man. ' '

Deat girls can successfully find positions

Deaf girls . in business practice, not
the type of office work requiring dictation or transcribing of recordings,
but in operating business machines, comptometers, or anything requir-
ﬁg copying. fn Hartford, Conn., the American School mentioned by

r. Youngs has been most successful in placing their girl graduates in
big insurance companies there. Many schools get their graduates
into banks. i 1o : it :

When I was in Tennessee there were several girls working for Dun
& Bradstreet. One of them was the head of a department there.
There is almost no limit to the possibilities of a deaf person if there is
a good education., il )
I know several young deaf men who are working in the space pro-.

rams. There are one or two, and maybe more, down at White Sands.
ne is a very capable mathematician.

Maybe some of these other gentlemen would like to add to the ones
I mentioned. There are just so many. o g

Senator PeLn. Incidentally, in connection with this program of
captioned films, they could emphasize these areas?
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Dr. McCrugre. 1 should have brought that out. The printin
trade in particular requires a good command of language and some o
our students don’t succeed in printing because they do not have the
f acll}t{ in language enabling them to set _toge quickly and accurately.
I think more should be able to go into this field. bof P

As I say, over the years the deaf have gained acceptance in thi
field. It 1s easy for them to get into the printers’ union. I think the
Government Printing Office here in Washington has over 80 deaf
printers. =5

Senator PeLL. For example, is there any film that now teaches
composite work or the printing trade?

Dr. McCrurE. Not that I know of. _

Senator Pern. This could be foreseen under this bill?

Dr. McCrurg. Yes; I think this would be a big help in the field of
vocational training, _ =5 T _

Senator Muskie, Mr. Youngs might care to comment on the con-
tribution made by Mr. Leo Viner in Bangor, Maine.

Mr. Younes. [ do not know exactly how many deaf employees he
has in his shoe plant in Bangor, but someone said there were 18. He
has made a practice of hiring deaf people as a matter of policy because
of the kind of work they have been turning out.

(A letter from Mr. Viner clarifying the above follows:)

: . ViNER: Bros., Inc,,
Bangor, Maine, August 7, 1962.
Senator Epmunp S. MUSKIE,
Senate Office Building,
Washington, D.C.

Dear SenaTor Muskie: It is encouraging to know that bill S. 2511 is being

%resented for the purpose of expanding the educational program for the deaf.
aptioned films for the deaf are sure to stimulate interest in the educational
program and eventually develop a potential and talented labor market.

e have been close to the deaf since 1927 when we first started to employ
them. At one time as many as 60 persons out of 300 employees were handicapped
and, of these, more than one-half were deaf mutes. Today there are 15 totally
deaf people in our plant. :

Even though our experience with the deaf has been very gratifying, we find
that, if additional education had been offered to them, their welfare would have
been much improved. We have observed that, once these people are employed,
they undergo a great personal change. They are ﬁroucl to.carry responsibility
and to be able to contribute to their own welfare rather than to depend on others.

We have also found that those deaf individuals who were fortunate enough to
have had schooling are the highest earners, and yet those of not equal education
manage to be good earners. Had these also been given the benefit of more
education, they, too, could have had higher skills and higher earnings. ol

We feel that industry in general does not realize the contribution that the deaf
person is able to offer. Their concentration is, of course, much sharper because
they are not too easily distracted and their application to' the job is remarkable.
They take their jobs very seriously, always try to please and are seldom absent.

Industry would do itself a great service should it help to educate the deaf and
to employ them. ‘We look forward to seeing bill S, 2511 adopted., .

Sincerely yours, o :
SRS : : “'Leo VINER. -

Mr. Younes. They are also used down at the Warrent papermill in
Westbrook where they have a large group of deaf employees, many of
whom have been there as long as 20 or 25 years and are very highly
resg;acted employees. ST Rt et

course, as Dr. McClure said, the various States have different
types of trades, TIn Maine, of course, the papermill and shoe industry
are the two leading trades for our deaf people. g il i
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" Dr. McCrurg, I have one I would like to add to that. Last Feb-
ruary I had the opportunity of attending a symposium in Denver
and very prominent in the talks and discussions of the meeting was
the vice president, I believe, of the company that manufactures Sam-
sonite luggage. They hire deaf employees. I believe more than half
of their employees are deaf. In their company relationships they
have picnics and all manner of recreational activities where the deaf
have, in that particular company, been so successful and so well ac-
cepted that it is really a point of pride with the Samsonite people.

enator PeLL. Thank you, very much, =

I have one further question, which I find myself concerned with as a
layman, and that is the question of statistics. I realize about a
quarter of a million of these people are totally deaf. I was wondering
how many were born totally deaf and became totally deaf, and also
how many people in your estimation, if not deaf, partially deaf, at
least hard of hearing are in the United States? - This has not been
reported as yet, o T BT : 0k _

Dr. McCrLurr. That is a tough question, That is like asking how

many people in the United State are partially blind because they

wear glasses. It depénds upon the degree. _

But I think the figure s about 250,000, groba-bly, totally deaf
persons. In our schools for the deaf, as Mr. Youngs mentioned, the
population is changing and we do not have the hard-of-hearing children
we used to have.

In my schoo! and in others where surveys have been made, prob-
ably almost 95 percent of the children were born deaf or became deaf
so early that if they heard no one was able to identify it. And in
extending the numbers. T would say that you could easily double or
triple the number of 250,000 to include the severely harg-of-hear‘ing
persons who really do not communicate very well. They may have
a little residual hearing, but it is not sufficient to meet the needs of
everyday communication in life; so that it certainly would be half a
million or more, ey (e ' _ :

~Senator PeLL. How many movie theaters throughout. the country
have equipment into which you can plug an earphone for amplifica-
tion? Do you have any percentage on that? !

‘Mr. Younacs. Only one, and that is Radio City Music Hall. "That
is the only onc I know of. 5 e S

Dr. McCrure. Many, many churches have a front row or some-
place in the church equipped with hearing aids for the elderly people
who have lost their hearing, but this, of course, is not the problem we
are speaking of. At the same time it identifies another group of hear-
ing handicapped persons and identifies provisions made for them in
certain situations. - : - -

Senator Pxrr. So, in brief, about 250,000 are totally deaf, and al-
most, the same number are very hard of hearing——

Dr. McCrure. I would say more than that. ;

Senator PErr. And an indeterminate number who are semiblind
like you and I are. :

Dr. McCLure. Yes. : _

Senator PerL. How do we compare today with the work that is
being done in this field abroad for the education of the deaf? I
wonder if any of you have any knowledge as to the relative training?

Mr. AmBroseN. In Europe as compared to Maryland? I think
basically we have to understand the European style of education where

;
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children start their apprenticeship very early. This is true in Great
Britain also. : : : ' :

Senator PeLL. Would you say they are ahead of us or behind us in
this field? - _ -

Mr. Amerosen, I think we are ahead because we do not start
apprenticeship at 14 years of age. We keep our children in school
and give them a broader education until theyﬁduate. at the high
school level, as a student 18 or 19 years of age. Whereas in the foreign
countries only the select students are kept in school beyond the 13-
to 14-age level. The vast majority of them start their apprentice-
ship very early. I would say that our educational system is far
advanceg. This was borne out by Dr. Greenaway, the head master
of the Yorkshire Residential School for the Deaf in Liancaster, England,
who surveyed the schools for the deaf in the United States. He went
all over the United States a few years ago, and one of his observations
was'that we are much advanced over the schools on the Continent and
in Great Britain. & S ey i 4 ;

Senator Prrr. This is particularly interesting to me because the
feeling is that general education in Western Europe is ahead of ours.

Mr. AMBROSEN. I disagree. ; _

Senator PrrL. You very strongly feel that they are definitely behind
us when it comes to the education of the deaf?

Mr. AmBroseEN. Yes, because of the reason just stated.

Senator PrrL. Now just for the sake of argument; are the schools
for the deaf in Germany or Great Britain like ours? :

Mr. AMrroseN. Very similar to ours, yes. b ek _

Senator PEnL. Does every child who is totally deaf have an oppor-
tunity to go to one?: _ e B =

Mr. AmBrosen. I believe so, especially in Great Britain: They
have baby clinics all over Great Britain and they discover deafness in
children very, very early. TS
- Senator PrrLn. Do you have any further comments? .~

Dr. McCrure. I would like to add that deaf persons in America
are generally considered much more independent and self-supporting
and self-sufficient than. they are in virtually any other country.
They manage their own affairs, own hemes, own automobiles, and
they do not have and do not' need the assistance in later life, that
many foreign countries provide for their deaf. Ttis because of the
opportunities we have tried to provide for them. = Fltar o)

(The prepared statement of Mr. Youngs follows:)

PREPARED STATEMENT OF JoserH P. Younas, JRr., SUPERINTENDENT, GOVERNOR
BAXTER StaTE ScHOOL FOR THE DEAF, PORTLAND, MAINE & |

The captioned filins program has provided, in the few short years it has been in
operation, untold happiness t6 thousands of deaf people throughout the United
States. I am honored to have the privilege of speaking in behalf of this program
and to verify the general feeling that prevails among those of us who are engaged
in teaching deaf children that in the captioned films program we have a tremendous
opportunity for developing educational resources of unlimited potentials.

uring the past academic year in my own school for the deaf in Maine, we have
enjoyed regular showin%ls of captioned films for the deaf. All of the children
enrolled in our school have been able to enjoy this program. Basically, the
purpose of offering these films to the children has been purely entertainment and
recreational in nature. Probably no offering in the field of simple entertainment
can be said to give as much pleasure to the general population of the deaf as these
captioned films have done. It did not take long, however, to realize that other
important benefits in other areas of development were being derived indirectly
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from these movies. The children were able to grasp and understand the story
line and basic theme of the films more accurately, particularly those of a historical
nature or those adapted from literary classics, The effect on the acquisition of
langua.ﬁe and in the development of reading skills is also noticeable. BSocially,
our children have been able to acquire a broader understanding of the customs
and babits of our own society as well as those of others. Even in the areas of
emotional and moral development there are opportunities for reaching our deaf
children through these films. :

It is exciting to visualize what doors to learning can be o6pened through the
develog)ment of certain types of }Erogramed‘ instruction as outlined and presented
with the aid of captioned films. Teachers of the deaf have long resorted to making
their own visual aid materials, to dramatizing their own experience, stories, and
ada?ting texts and other reading material to the needs and limitations of their
dea gunﬂs. With the use of films they will be able to use the same techniques but
broaden their scope and even structure their programs more completely. The
beauty of such a program lies in the possibilities of research, where needed, and in
the exchanging of ideas among the various schools and classrooms for the deaf.

The use of captioned films in developing teaching aids, particularly in the area
of language development for the deaf, is more than a scheme. Educators have
long visualized the possibilities - such a program would offer. As in most en-
deavors of this type, the greatest obstacle has been in raising adequate funds to
to implement such a program. Now, as suitable training and teaching aids
become available, it will be necessary to train our teachers in the use of such equip-
menthig the techniques to be employed, and in familiarization with the resource
material.

The production and distribution of educational and training films for the deaf in
itself will not be meeting the challenge, unless the teaching personnel is able to
use these films to their maximum advantages. This would necessitate not only
training teachers currently active in their professions in schools and classes for
the deaf but in setting up opportunities for training young men and women who
are studying to become teachers of the deaf. e

Apart from the potentialities which such teaching aids would offer our schools
and classes for the deaf, the captioned films program would be able to serve re-
habilitation counselors, social workers, people engaged in the preschool education
of the deaf, hearing and speech centers, parents of deaf children, college students,
and research people. A rinanes

This bill provides for the development of a broad and concerted advancement
in the area of research in the use of educational and training films for the deaf,
the production and distribution of these films, and for the training of persons in
the use of these films. ' I strongly urge that:every consideration be given toward
its passage so that deaf adults and ehildren of today and the deaf children of the
future may enjoy richer experiences that, will broaden their understan.dingband
aﬁvﬁreciation of the society in which we live and that they may acquire the basic
skills of language and reading that are so important in their educational program.

i I'strongly believe that'the proposedfcapti%neﬂ films projects will mark the be-
ginning of a new and exciting era in the lives of deaf people.: The ideas which
have been expressed at this panel merely scratch the surface of what such a
rogram could offer. I h;jmhlg_';m"d earnestly request that every consideration
given toward the passage of 5. 2511, ‘ i FLa5

Senator PrLr. We will call our next witnesses. First we will hear
from Dr. Robert Frisina, professor of audiology and director, Hearing
and Speech: Center, Ga]ia,udet-(}ollege, Washington, D.C.

STATEMENT OF ROBERT FRISINA, PROFESSOR OF AUDIOLOGY
AND DIRECTOR, HEARING AND SPEECH CENTER, GALLAUDET
_COLLEGE, WASHINGTON, D.C.

Mr. Frisina. Mr. Chairman, I would like to express my apprecia-
tion for the opportunity to-come and speak in behalf of S. 2511.
In order to facilitate questions you might have, I would like to say
as director of the Hearing and.Speecll;ﬂlgenter at Gallaudet College,
that we have a diagnostic program and are interested particularly in
children with presumed auditory disorders. We extend the diag-
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nostlc fa.cﬂahes to school-age children throughout the country, but
most of our youngsters do come from the Metropolitan Washmgton
area. We also have an outpatient clinic for adults who have aud:t,ory
disorders of one sort and another.

In addition to the diagnostic program, we have a training program
for the college deaf students. This is partlclﬂa.rly geared for the area
of communication, hprea.dmg, speech correction and the utilization
of hearing aids.

In addition to this we offer courses to the hearing persons in the
graduate department of education who are studying to become
teachers of the deaf. We offer courses in audiology to them.

In addition to this we have a research program prineipally related
to communication and auditory disorders.

Finally, we have a preschool program for deaf children, children
with auditory disorders other than deafness, and for parents of these
young infants and preschool children.

Other responsibilities that I have at the moment include such things
as associate editor of the American Annals of the Deaf, which is the
oldest educational journal in the United States. The January edition
of the American Annals for the Deaf annually presents statistical
information concerning the numbers of schools 1n the United States,
Canada, Australia, and Africa. * In addition to this, it has very specific
information conccrnmg per ca.plta. costs, types of matructlon utilized,
and so on. .

I am also chairman of the ’I‘echrncal (‘orrun:ttee of the Amerman
Hearing Society, which is‘aited at anbther group, the hard-of-heanng
group throughout the United States. ’

I am also a member of the Research Committee of the Conference
of Executives of American Schools for the Deaf. :

With your: permission, I would’ hke to read a brlef stat-ement

-Senator PoLr. Please proceed. '

~Mr. Frisrva. A basic problem facmg the pcrson—deaf from early
life is the acquisition of the English language, which readily can: be
communicated ‘through ‘oral, written, or gestural means. In'a spon-
taneous manner, the nondeaf child acquires language through hearing
and uses hearing to monitor his own' vocal output. Ne

It is evident that the structure of the Enghsh Janguage is learned
by the average nondeaf child as earlylas the first 30 to 36 months of
life. - ' Tn sddition, the preschool child ‘with average hearing has learned
a vocabulary of words numbering in the thousands. This ability to
comprehend and express the Enghsh lfmguage *13 poasﬂ)le pmnmpally
because of hearing. © '

On the other hand, deafness imposes & serious’ obatacle tio:thie Tensn:
ing of language and ‘communication and hence thefullest development
of basic potentials, because it diminishes or precludes the nat.ura.l'
learning process which is designed for' thie esr. = =3

The child with deafness dnfurbunateilyl inldouy led torkis anwronment
principally through ' vision. - Howéver, -the' fact ' that the majority
group in‘our socety is coupled to' the world" throug:h ‘hearing plus
VlSlOI'l ‘places the deaf in a sériously handlcapg osition.

The formal education of ‘deaf-persons, the development of personal
and social maturity, andtheir becoming contributing ‘members of
our society reqmre specml mstrucmona.l teehmques The factor
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common to the pursuit of a1 these goals is the dependence of the deaf
person on his visual system. £ A _ ; i

Speaking as one who deals with the complex problems of deaf persons
on a daily basis, it is a privi ege to have this opportunity. to speak it
behalf of 5. 2511, = The unique and forward-looking aspeet of S.2511
is its intent to provide special pro(framing, through vision, the princi-
pal channel of communication and learning open-to the deaf. :

Prior research in the areas of communication, educational achieve-
ment;;dpersona.l and social adjustment, and occupational status have
defined the problem. Research in conjunction with S. 2511 in my
opinion relates to: - Es

(1) Selection and utilization of electromechanical devices related
to filmed materials;

32) Development and validation of film programs and procedures;
an

(3) The application and integration of such devices and materials
into existing and planned: curricula. : el

In short, the type ofiresearch required is of an ac-{)plied,- nature; since
griofr research has defined the gap areas in the developinent of the

eaf.

Such research should result in maximum effectiveness and efficiency
in terms of both hurnan and financial efforts expended.

Senator PeuL; Thank you very much, indeed.

Do you have any questions, Senator Muskie?

Senator Muskig. I take it you have not had an opportunity to
even, consider: the resources of the college to undertake researc{ in
the audio— _

Mr. Frisinva. An all-out effort in this regard has not been possible
until this time.

If I may make an additional comment or two with respect to some
of the things that have been said before. I think it is important to
clarify that this figure of 250,000 deaf in the United States is at best
a conservative estiumate., When we speak of deaf versus hard of hear-
ing, I think the function of a hearing aid becomes critical in this
consideration.

For example, a hearing aid is designed to amplify sound. Unfor-
tunately, it does not clarify sound. 'ﬁany of the problems confront-
ing & so-called hard-of-hea ing popu ation in the United States today
i}f the problem in clarification of hearing, not just sensitivity of

earing,

Senator Peru. L:think it would be appropriate to insert in the
record here the present language of Public Law 85-905 which states
in paragraph (3), section 1: -

“The term ‘deaf person’ includes a person whoee hearing is severely
impaired.” : : : :

r. Frisiva. Yes, sir, severely impaired hearing is a more accuarate
term because the population that would really benefit: from this
includes those who have measurable amounts of hearing. :

The point I am emphasizing is the hearing aid in and of itself does
not convert the basic problem of a number of youngsters who need
educational programs similar to those of the deaf And this, I am
convinced, extends to those who have some remaining hearing. The
addition or use of & hearing aid does not reverse the condition in quite
the same way that glasses do many visual problems.




 Senator Muskie. Would you be able to give us some idea of the
research budget of Gallaudet College?

Mr. Frisina. Research projects?
 Senator Muskie. Research budget of Gallaudet College? By

Mr. Frisiva. The research budget at the moment is quite limited
insofar as the research that is funded by the college proper. 1 do not
think it is beyond $20,000 or $30,000 specifically for research. Grant
research is sought in most instances. It is a very limited budget.
~ Senator Pern. What portion of the films that you would use would
be of a technical teaching nature and what would be of a general
nature? How do you see the breakdown of this program if enacted?

Mr. Frisina. The breakdown in the utilization of films? I would
say there are several aspects, of course. Educational in the sense of
direct work with the youngsters is the most critical need as I would
see it.  This is the personal impression in terms of overall good that
this ﬁou_ld do for the deaf population, I think this should get primary
. Now other areas have to. do with socialization, have to do with
news media, brinlﬁin%tham' into line with the most recent develop-
ments. This would be another area. But I would say that major
emphasis should be on those children in educational institutions.
This is where factor of language is most critical.

As one raises the language acquisition, the language ability of
these children, they are (Egi_ to be in a better position to accept
news media which 1s not e&cn%ly'designed for them. In other words,
presumably, if you educate them (and it is this area which has the

eatest potential as far as I am concerned), if they come out with a

ona fide high school education, achieving the 12 grades, then they
are capable of going on at a much greater pace. s

There is a serious educational lag at this point in the average child
finishing school no matter where—Europe, the United States, Aus-
tralia, or England. There is a serious educational lag and it is this
area which has, for me, the greatest potential. With better education
they can achieve more as individuals, as self-sustaining members of
our society. ' : e She e

Senator Muskre. Do the students come together there from all
over the country? b :

- Mr., Frisina. Yes, sir. P : : i

Senator Muskin. f[-Iow_ many educational ipstitutions are repre-
sented in a typical class? gAY 14

Mr. Frisina. At the moment there are some 275 different facilities
around the country dealing with deaf individuals, deaf and hard of
hearing individuals, As indicated previously, there are approxi-
mately 75 public residential schools and we have some 25 private and
denominational residential situations.

In addition to this there are some day schools in metropolitan areas.
So that the total number of facilities available, with varying qualities
with respect to output and achievement insofar as the teaching is
concerned, would run somewhere around 275. The total number of
students in these situations is approximately 28,000 to 30,000, at the
moment. , o i _

Now all of these situations in one way or another, not every one
specifically but all of them directly or indirectly have an equal oppor-
tunity to send students to Gallaudt College. As a result, %he present
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makeup of the student population at Gallaudet College represents
almost every State in the Union“in addition to Canada and a few
foreign countries. '

Senator Muskie. Is there a very great variation in the preparation
of the students who come to Gallaudet?

Mr. Frisina. Objective information concerning the differences in
programs is difficult to come by, But on an opinion basis I would
say there are substantial differences among schools. But even the
best schools do not achieve anything approximating what we expect
of the hearing child. This comes right back to the language deficit.

Senator Muskie. Could you give us some idea of the educational
age of a freshman at Gallaudet compared to the educational age of a
normal hearing child? _

Mr. Frisina. The educational age of those seeking entrance to
Gallaudet approximates 10th grade achievement—grade 10 approx-
imately. Some are above and some are slightly below.

Senator Muskip. That represents about a 2-year gap?

Mr. Frisina. The figure for the discrepancy between mental
potential and educational achievement is roughly 3 to 4 years across
the country. In other words, you have Ionﬁed or selected samples
ap&ylying for entrance to Gallaudet, This would not be an accurate
reflection of the problems facing 'the gentlemen who appeared pre-
viously. In other words, they are confronted with the multiple
handicap as well as the straight deaf child. So that approximately
15 to 20 percent of the children in schools for the deaf across the coun-
try have additional handicaps, and this is a conservative estimate.
It should be more like 25. '61_13'“0111:‘ of four children in a typical
school for the deaf has problems other than straight deafness. So
that if you average out the academic lag it approximates 3 to 4
;{‘ea'.rs across the country, taking every child into consideration.

his is a serious deficit. =~ © T 5

Senator Muskie. I assume some institutions do a notably better
job than others in pre’ga.ri;;g students for Gallaudet? : i
'Mr. Frisina. Yes, but again objective information of this type is
difficult to really pinpoint. o R e i i o
' Senator Muskrs. I ask the question not to pinpoint which institu-
tions do better, but the reasons why they do better. s

Mr. Frisina. I think one of the basic problems confronting all of
these schools, all of these gentlemen, is the selection and the acquisition
of good trained teachers—just trained teachers. There is & serious
lack of trained teachers in this country at this time. This has been
recognized and something is being done to remedy the situation.
There are certain schools who pay more than others, there are certain
schools in parts of the country where teachers would _i_ike to be. There
are many factors that enter into the ultimate faculty gathered by
each superintendent. "~ . o I pRe e

For example, in some States the school is out in a rural area far
away from tEe cities.. Contrast this with a school near a metropolitan
area where you have concentration of professional persons who have
wives who are teachers. It is much easier to get a more competent
or monéif;[ualiﬁed staff if you are in a concentrated area. So you find
these differences entering into the quality. of the end product. -
~ Senator Muskie. So here we come down to the educational films
as a teacher, and also as a teacher of teachers. e




| CAPTIONED FILMS FOR THE DEAF 57

~ Mr. Frisina, It is a teacher of teachers and also a teacher. It is
a method of standardizing the most effective approach to deaf
children, so that these schools with a low budget, ang there are many
of them in this country, can take advantage of master teachers and
programs which have been devised and validated.

Senator MuskiE. An interesting story along that line concerns a
small high school in the State of Wisconsin, I believe, too small to
afford a physics department. The story goes, and I think this is
true, one year the principal offered a physics course to all members
of the senior class who wanted to take it. When he got an expression
of interest it was disclosed there would be no teacher, the school
could not afford a laboratory, and the means for instruction was an
excellent physics course on film. I think you all know about this
course. It is an outstanding course. The students would have to
put the film up every day, and take it back down the next day. This
18 the way they taught themselves by means of an educational film.
- T understand that at the end of the year the senior class took the

State physics exam and they all cracked well above the average
without the benefit of any physical teacher present and without the
benefit of any laboratory. This, I think, is an illustration of the
potential magic of educational films.
 Senator Prrn. What degrees are offered at Gallaudet?
Mr. Frisina, The bachelor of arts and bachelor of science degrees.
Senator PrrL. Does it give a master’s? :
Mr. Frisinva. They have just begun a master’s degree in education
for the best students, For years, since 1894, I beifeve, they have
been giving a master of arts degree, which is now a master degree in
education for hearing graduate students. But they have just in-
augurated a master’s program for deaf students who wish to become
teachers of the deaf. it e i
Senator Prrn. Thank you very much, indeed, for your testimony.
Now I think we are particularly lucky to have a student of Gallaudet
College, and it is my pleasure to introduce Miss Joan Fontaine of
West Warwick, R.I. T am so happy she was able to come down from
Rhode Island to testify here. : :
- If you want to bring an interpreter or anyone with you, please do so.

~ STATEMENT OF MISS JOAN FONTAINE, WEST WARWICK, R.L.

Senator PrrL. Miss Fontaine, as I understand it, you are in your
second year, or third year, at Gallaudet?

Miss FonTAINE. Second year at Gallaudet.

Senator Prrr, In your second year, fine.

Do you have some remarks or thoughts you care to give us?

Miss FonTaiNe. Mr. Chairman, Senator Muskie, it is a great
pleasure to appear before you today, and I have some information
that I would ﬁﬁe to contribute. ;

I have seen and experienced the difference between seeing a film
with captions and one without captions. ~ With captions it is much
easier for us to understand. Naturally this is so because we can read
them and we do not have to strain our eyes to see the lips which are
moving constantly. . T U TRt :
_If you turn oﬁy your television, the voice on your television, and
just watch it, you will understand why this is so. Without captions
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on a film the student cannot watch ‘the teacher on the side trying to
translate it and at the same time watch the film. If you have a deaf
teacher, then you cannot see movies at all, and movies can help us
to learn a great deal. "It has been so all through high school. " =

I was not able to attend a deaf high school. %n.t,t.ended high schools
and saw inovies there which I could not understand myself because I
could not hear clearly enough to understand. - e

The Federal Government seems to spend a great deal of money
on educating the deaf people here in Wa.sﬁingt-on at Gallaudet College.
Why not put all this' money to a-greater benefit? If we could under-
stand what is being taught to'us1t would be a lot easier.

[ think one of the gentlemen mientioned that we have captions
on television. Well, T understand that we have Conelrad test warnings
on television with no picture whatsoever. Ho{‘w would a deaf person
know? How would he be able to'hear and know? If we ever did have
such an emergency he would not know; he would not be ablé to evac-
uate.' All these things are important. i)

I'think that S. 2511 would bé a very good bill to pass. Are there
any questions? e _ ’ - ML

Senator Muskie. 'Are you totally deaf, Miss Fontaine?

Miss Fonraing. No, I am not. gl T

Senator Muskie. Have you attended a deaf school throughout
your educational years? —~ - 7 15, =

Miss FonTaine. No, T have not. The only school for the deaf T
have attended is Gallaudet College for the Deal. :

Senator Muskie. Before that you attended public schools?

Miss Fontaing. T attended ‘a public high school which ‘made it
very difficult. Many times | wanted to give up, to quit school be-
cause I could not understand. But'T had very good pushers behind
me telling me this was not the way I should look at'it."’ I'managed
to get through high school and to geét in at Gallaudet.

enator I\%USI{I_E'. Were you able to move right along without any
break in your progress? ' . _ o

Miss Fonrarne. Yes, I did. The State of Rhode Island provided
me with a teacher from the State who came down twice'a week and
taught me how .to lipread. Then I attended a school for the hard
of hearing and I had great training up there, That is why I could
oo ‘through “school without having too  much diffieulty.” But T did
Rave to have a front seat, and whenever a movie was shown I would
have to have the script before me because I could not understand
everything that was going on. ; ; =54

Senator Muskie. The testimony here this morning has been that
the greatest problem facing the deaf is language, the acquisition of a
vocabulary. Would you agree with that from your own experience?

Miss Fonraine. Yes, | would. Seeing it is like having repetition
of hearing it. That is where we come in. The deaf could learn a lot
more language if they could just see it before them. Tt is like reading
a book. It takes a great deal of time and a lot of money to make such
films, but I have seen both kinds and I do prefer the ones with the
caption. : =

Senator Muskre. I would be interested to know the extent of your
hearing. Can you hear anything at all that I am saying? T

Miss FonrainNe. Yes, I can. % can pick up noises a lot easier than
I can voices. i ' i
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Senator Muskie. Most of what is said can'be classified asnoises.
~Miss Fonrains. T donot consider S.'2511'a noise. T cons1der there
is ra.lkmg to be' done about it.

Senator Muskre. Thank you, Miss Fontaine. Tt has been a pleas-
ure to have you here this morning, and I am grateful you were dhle
to come and for your willingness to speak up.

Miss Fontaine. I was so happy to come. ; W

Senator PeLn. At Gallaudet College how many of t.he students
would you. say are totally deaf, or how many are like you, very ha.rd

of heari
migonmmm Well, T would say that most of the students are
totaﬂy deaf.

Senator P v Do you know how to talk wmh your fingers as well?

Miss FonTAarNE. Yes, I can.

Senator PeLr. So you ecan both talk and understand——

Miss FonTAaine. Pardon?

Senator PELu. You can both talk with your ﬁngers and understand
the language?

Miss Fonrtaine. Right. I have ‘been watching the interpreter
over here a great deal, and I have been able by both watching him
and with my hearing to understand a great deal.

Senator PELn. Has there been any discussion of this bill at Gallaudet
College amongst the students?

Miss FoNTAINE. Yes. After I saw you in April, and we diseussed
the bill, I took a copy with me back to the school and showed it to a
great many of the girls and boys. It was overwhelming to see the
expression on their faces. That is why I contacted you and told
you how much this meant to the deaf. 1 wanted to see their reaction
as well as what I -thought of it, and it really was something. This
is what they want; this is what they need. If we can have this we
can learn a great deal more than we know already. All we need is
a chance, an 0pportum n.i

Senator Perr. I thank yow very much, indeed, Miss Fontaine, for
coming and for being with us today, and ‘thank you for your support
of ‘this bill.

Miss FonTamve, Thank you very much.

Senator Perr. Our next witness is Mr. Alexander Fleishman, a
member of the National Association of the Deaf, and president of the
National Association for the:Jewish Deaf.

Mr. Fleishman, you have a written statement?

Mr. Frersaman. Yes.

Senator PErL: You may proceed.

STATEMENT OF ALEXANDER FLEISHMAN, MEMBER, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION OF THE DEAF; PRESIDENT, NATIONAL ASSOCIA-
TION FOR JEWISH DEAF, AND PRESIDENT, AMERICAN ATHLE-
TIC ASSOCIATION OF DEAF, WASHINGTON, D.C.

Mr. Fresauan. I 'am Alexander Fleishman, of Silver Spring, Md.
I represent, the following organizations:

As appointed representative for National Association of the Deaf.

As president of American Athletic Association of the Deaf.

As president of National Congress of Jewish Deaf.
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As president .of Suburban Maryland Association of the Deaf.

The total membership of the above-named organizations ranges
around the 50,000 mark. Each of these organizations has recorded
endorsement and anticipation of the passage of this bill. .~

I would like to refer to a 1960 conference and NAD President
Byron E. Burnes’ statement a.ppearin% in the report of a conference
on the utilization of captioned films for the deaf. The report says
in part, and I quote: - S 4 4

Dr. Burnes noted some apprehensions on the part of the adult deaf. These
apprehensions center about the following points: :

(a) That the adult deaf may not be consulted regarding development of. the

Rk : Ay mot. D :
> (b) That selection of films may not reflect their interests and desires. :
‘() They originally looked askance at the placement of the programin an office
where there was (at that time) no expert on the deaf, = - -

Dr. Burnes then expressed a hope for a comprehensive program
while recognizing that support then available was not sufficient.

“Two years later it is: my pleasure and duty to report that these
concerns have largely disappeared. The fact of my presence here
‘today indicates that the adult deaf are being considered in the develop-
ment of the program. There is other evidence of a more continuing
nature. ' - ;

As to the selection of films, the adult deaf populace has given a
more than satisfactory response to the subjects offered, judging from
the large attendance everywhere when such captioned ﬁl]ma are being
sereened,  There is an overwhelming demand for the films. About
the only objection heard is that it is difficult to get them. This, we
have no doubt, is due to shortage of materials and not to any defect
in the distribution system. :

Incidentally, we take pride in the fact that a deaf man; Ray Galli-
more, of the Indiana School for the Deaf, is the director of distribu-
tiOn. ; ; a ¥ | ;

From rather wide contacts with the deaf for whom I speak 1 believe
that we are in essential agreement with others who support S. 2511.
- We believe that thereis a great need for— = 0 ©
(@) More captioned films of wide, general interest.
(b) Plentiful educational films for school use.’
: (f?" Educational and training films for the adult deaf.
(d)  Collateral activities such astraining, research, and produc-
tion so that the service will have maximum effectiveness, =~ =

As a worthwhile example, the new program might produce a film
of the Tenth International Games of the Deaf to be held in Wash-
ington, D.C., June 27 to July 3, 1965.- ‘Deaf athletes from 30 or 40
countries are expected to participate. Such a film shown around the
country to some 700 clubs and 100’ schools for the deaf would have
real value.  Not only would it serve to show the accomplishments of
the deaf but it would instill an increased interest in physical fitness
and sports participation. = At the same time it would help. to promote
the games which are of worldwide interest to the deaf. If the film
could be made available for hearing audiences, it might help to spread
undelrsmnding that we deaf are really not so different from other
people.ri \o o S R P bt w2
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‘T have said that the adult deaf favor development of the educa-
tional aspects of captioned films and we stand by that point of view.
But may I emphasize a.%%,in that providing films of a recreational
kind is important, too. We who are deaf have limited opportunities
for worthwhile recreation. Many of the things which hearing people
take for granted such as radio, television, plays, and music¢ cannot be
enjoyed to any extent 'bgfthe' deaf. Ca.pt.ioneci films can fill a great
need in our lives. We hope that this need will not be forgotten as
the program pushes ahead. - -

e hope, also, to see the day when there may be some captioned
films on television. This would help greatly to keep us abreast of the
times. It would enable us to achieve a greater feeling of belonging
to the world in which we live. This we wish very much to do.

The Suburban Maryland Association of the Deaf has conducted a
small program to acquaint the deaf with the proposed new legislation
now under consideration. I repeat, over 700 organizations of wide
variety have endorsed the captioned films program, some in a formal

‘manner, others by their use of the films. I believe that the need is

far greater than was realized when the law was first introduced. The
film approach to the needs and problems of the deaf is affirmative and
sound. On behalf of the deaf of America, I speak with deepest
conviction that S. 2511 should be passed.

‘Senator PeLr. Thank you very much, indeed, Mr. Fleishman.

I wonder if you have any thoughts or questions, Senator Muskie?

Senator Muskie. I 'Wouft’ri- like to express my appreciation, Mr.
Fleishman, for your appearance here this morning:.

As a note of personal interest, I am curious as to whether you have
been totally deaf from birth? - EREE B

Mr. Freisaman. No. I lost my hearing at' 7 years of age from a
mastoid operation. : A '

Senator Muskis. Did you attend schools for the deaf?

“Mr. Freisaman, At first T went to regular public schools in New
York City. Then I went to a special school and also attended a
school for the deaf. After that T went to high school and later to the
New York School for the Deaf in New York, in White Plains, N.Y.

Sggat.or Muskie. What is your present occupation,' Mr. Fleish-
man. L =l I i i Lk || i il : 1
Mr. Freisaman, I am an advertising makeup man in the Wash-

ton Post newspaper.
enator Muskie. Have you been handicapped by the fact that you
are hard of hearing? ;

Mr, FreisamAN, I do not hear at all, T do not hear anything. I
cannot use the telephone—— -

Senator Muskie. I am not sure that is a bandicap. Thank you,
Mr. Fleishman. LT

Senator PeLL. Mr. Fleishman, do you believe if this bill passes, as
we hope 1t will, that in the administration of the bill utilization should
be made of some deaf people?

Mr. FLBISHMAN. Yes.

i
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_Senator PurL. I would agree with you and hope that the Depart-
ment of Health, Education, and Welfare/will bear that in; mind when
ingithesedobsy il woifivomg pali i syizedio st Fakl
Do you find ;you can lead a relatively normal life here in Washing-
ton, or do you find that your associations are limited to only people
who are also deaf? . . .. . i Taagiair il

Mr. Freiseman. Well, in my case; I am in the middle.. In the
organizations I represent I often speak to hearing people, but my
social life is limited to deaf people. Bl e Wil

Senator PELL. Can you lipread as well as reading?

Mr. FreiseMAN.. Yes, very well. | ... . ki _

_ -ng;tor PeLL. Can you understand fairly clearly through the lips
OF DOV, rifv-mt ahs by en b finger 39, . o o mt e b 4 !
Mz, FLEISHMAN.  Itidepends:., . ool futrediin s adagelye g6

Senator PrrL. Would you also. tell us.about how many_ people are
represented in. all the organizations which you represent? = You say,
here 50,000, but 1t would seem to ma.‘tha__-t,.t.hg;:e!mlght,--be'ev.en more.

Mr. Freisaman. There are many more. . With 700 organizations -
all over the co.untl’iy, I would say probably 150,000 altogether, = . -

Senator Prry. Thank you very much, Mr. Fleishman, for coming
here. You have added a great deal to the testimony. EuprEr

Senator Muskie, before I conclude the hearings I wonder if you have
any observations or thoughts you would like to present atrthis time?

- Senator Musgis. If I could conceive of a way to express this prob-
lem more dramatically than it has been e_:q;ressed here this morning,
I would take additional time to do so. I think all of us in this room
understand what it is we.are concerned with and what we hope can be
accomplished if this legislation is approved. P T

One of the advantages in being close to a group of this kind and a
problem of this kind is a community of interest that makes the group
a very tight group and very effective one. . I know that here in the
Halls of Congress it is. the people who shout the loudest, who get the
most attention., We are not in a position to make quite as much
noise as some of these other people, | If we were, we would not hear
ourselves.., CFPT rl mbeac? wra™ of Yaal] adtoed] laodnd el o=

. I think there is a message here that, will have very strong appeal in
the Congress, and I am very optimistic about the prospects of th s
legislation. I hope that even though.it is rather late in the session to
get new legislation considered, we can get this bill finally enacted and
sent to, the White House in this session. ... We ean if you people would
help us in the way that only you can. b b M Lopad s

- Senator PeLL, I thank you, Senator Muskie, because you are the
organized spearhead and sponsor of this legislation and you have been.
very good to give up your whole morning. I know.at least of one
other committee meeting and perhaps others. PN

I would like to have inserted in the record follow_inlg your statement
at the opening of the hearing the statement by my;colleague, Congress-.
man John E. Fogarty, who has introduced a companion bill, H.R:'9456.
I know that al of usare familiar with the outstanding achievements-of
Congressman Fogarty in the field of health and welfare legislation.
Indeed, he is well known here and abroad for all of his contributions,
At this time I, too, would like to express my thanks to all the witnesses
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who have come & long way at considerable inconvenience in some cases,
underlining Sena,t,orgMus'kie’.a point as to the dramatic nature of the
testimony which has brought it home more than any other wiy by
having people who are actually totally deaf themselves testily, and
I add my hope that this blllwi be enacted into law prior to"ﬁﬁe end
of this session of Congress: g faetntn ade bmimarnn
| At this point T will insert in t
Lo Williams of Lockheed Co. , :
' " (The letter referred to follows:) i oo ity e e ot i liie

: 7 ‘Lockmeep Missies & Srace Co., _
E i EER LS S SR AR Rk B L S - Augu.llt 9,. 1962_

e tecord a letter received from Mr.

A 5 L e A g
o Hon., CLAIBORNE PELL,

TR e e s e S
Commilttee on Labor and Public Welfare, =
Washington, D.C. R A e 4 s

Deasr SENaTor, PErn: 1 very much appregiate your invitation to testify on,
Sginalt;el, lk:aill 2511 and submit the following statement. for the record of hearings on
Chie Ly P SRR ot oming sLatemen b PIeey '.--

My name is William H. Williams and I am a member of the education and
training staff of the Lockheed Missiles & Space Co., located in Sunnyvale, Calif.
My primary . responsibility is training company employees in electrical manu-
facturing skills, but for the past 2 years I have—in addition to my regular duties—
trained deaf persons for placement in the company.. - = |

As preparation for this work, I included in my college; curriculum courses in
speech therapy and special problems, including a thesis on training aids and
techniques used in teaching technical and abstract subjects to the deaf.

During these 2 years I have trained some 50 persons—all totally deaf and
about one-half of whom also are mute; These persons have been placed in a wide
variety of occupations at Lockheed—including machinists, sheet metal assembly,
chemists, draftsmen, electrical assembly, and others. As you may know, our
practice in this regard is somewhat unusual; most employers tend to place all deaf
persons in a single organization performing only that organization’s function.

QOur experience with this program has been that these specially trained employees
have attained above-average performance in the variety of assignments they have
been given. There are several factors which, we feel, account for this. The deaf
person is free of several of the major sources of distraction; because he "“speaks”
with his hands he has developed unusual manual dexterity, and he has a higher
thah average appreciation of his job opportunity. May I point out that these
are inherent skills which training normally does not impart to normal employees.
If normal training and skills can somehow be superimposed on the deaf person’s
inherent advantages, he can become a superior employee,

There are, as you know, large numbers of employable deaf persons who cannot
find employment., I feel that a major obstacle to their employment is the belief -
by potential employers that the deaf, because of the communications barrier,
cannot be given successful inplant job training without extra cost and, later,
¢antot be given work instruction except with great difficulty.

At the present tiine, an employer who wishes to use deaf perSons alimost of

“‘3 necessity must employ a specially trained instructor like myself fo train and
i supervise them. Thisis, of course, an extra cost to the employer, and'in the case
E of smaller businesses, prohibitively so. Specially prepared captioned film, avail-
3 able on & fre or reasonable cost basis to employees for the purpose of training

the deaf in specific occupations would, in my opinion, do much to break this

barrier to wider spread employment of deaf persons in business and industry.
Further, I believe that contact with deaf persons during the training peériod will®
effectively dispel the average employer’s concern over t’.ﬁe second problem—that
of instructing the employees on the job. Our experience has been that this is
virtually no problem.

Another value of captioned films for training purposes is that they can make
training available to the deaf in almost any nonabstract occupation. Most deaf
persons today, if they are employed at all, work in either janitorial or repetitive
manufacturing jobs—in other words, in those jobs requiring & minimurn of train-
ing and instruction, This, again, is a reflection of the average employer’s concern
with the communication barrier and again, in my opinion, could be overcome by
the availability of effective training films.

I



le students’ seeing my gestures, and (2) my. sugn language neceg=

e students’ attention from the pieture.on the screen.. Captmned

ilms te both of these objections an it more effective t :

LMo my knowledge, ‘there presently are no specia
films available for our and other would-be'employer * fr g

ployees.  The reason apparently is that thers are not enough tra.mmg centers as

tentla.l customers to make the production of such films commercially profitable.

%‘ms is not, however, a valid commentary of the need, by the deaf, for he oppor-

tunities which could be created by the avallablhty of such films, A 7

our own experience is that' employers similarl; 1 5. by the, -

I a.ppreclate j__th_e__ oppor
feel _13 f mueh impo






